

### JOINT PHD PROGRAMME IN MOLECULAR BIOLOGY

### PhD Thesis

# Mutant p53 alters tumor microenvironment by reprogramming the cancer cell secretome *via* miR-30d

SUPERVISOR

Prof. Giannino Del Sal University of Trieste Laboratorio Nazionale CIB

**CO-SUPERVISOR** 

Dr. Valeria Capaci Laboratorio Nazionale CIB PhD STUDENT Lorenzo Bascetta

ACADEMIC YEAR 2017/2018

To my parents, Rudy and Rita, for their constant support

## **Table of contents**

ABSTRACT	1
List of abbreviations	2
1. Introduction	3
1.1 The cancer ecosystem	3
1.2 The tumor microenvironment (TME)	4
1.2.1 Components of the primary tumor microenvironment	4
1.2.1.1 The extracellular matrix (ECM)	5
1.2.1.2 Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs)	6
1.2.1.3 The blood vascular network	7
1.2.1.4 Other stromal cells	8
1.2.2 The TME at metastatic sites	9
1.3 Cancer-derived mediators of communication within the TME	9
1.3.1 Tumor-derived secreted molecules	10
1.3.2 Extracellular vesicles (EVs)	12
1.3.3 Cancer-secreted nucleic acids and microRNAs	15
1.4 Regulation of cancer secretome reprogramming	16
1.4.1 Hypoxia	17
1.4.2 Aberrant miRNA expression	18
1.4.3 Genetic alterations in signaling pathways	19
1.5 The p53 pathway in cancer	20
1.5.1 Wild-type p53	20
1.5.1.1 Non-cell-autonomous functions of p53	22
1.5.2 Mutant p53 proteins	23
1.5.2.1 Mechanisms of mut-p53 gain of function	24
1.5.2.2Interplay between mut-p53 and TME.	26
2. Preliminary data	28
3. Aim of the thesis	32
4. Results	33
4.1 Functional characterization of the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome	33
4.2 mut-p53/miR-30d axis in cancer cells alters the composition and properties of the ECM	34

8.	Ref	ferences	67
7.	Acl	knowledgments	66
6.	Ma	terials and methods	58
5.	Dis	cussion	52
	4.9	miR-30d as a potential biomarker of tumors expressing mut-p53	50
	4.8	Cancer-secreted miR-30d influences receiving cells	48
	4.7	mut-p53/miR-30d axis affects the release of proteins within EVs	44
	4.6	miR-30d expression activates a pro-migratory secretome in a non-transformed context	43
	4.5	The mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome promotes paracrine cancer cells migration	40
	4.4	mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome causes activation of fibroblasts	37
	4.3	mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome contributes to angiogenesis and vascular permeability	35

## ABSTRACT

Solid tumors can be considered as complex organs, in which neoplastic cells are surrounded by a tumor microenvironment (TME) that consists of an extracellular matrix (ECM) and many non-transformed cell populations (e.g. fibroblasts, endothelial cells). Cancer cells shape their TME through secretion of soluble and insoluble factors, including proteins, metabolites, extracellular vesicles (EVs), and circulating nucleic acids, among which miRNAs. The cancer secretome has both local and systemic effects on tumor growth, dissemination and metastatic colonization. Several cancer-related pathways concur to reprogram the secretome, and thereby alter the TME to sustain cancer development.

In human cancers, one of the most frequently mutated gene encodes for the transcription factor and tumor suppressor TP53. The majority of these mutations occur within the DNA binding domain of TP53, leading to expression of mutant p53 (mut-p53) proteins that not only lose the oncosuppressive features of the wild-type form, but may also acquire novel oncogenic properties, generally referred to as gain of function (GOF). Indeed, mut-p53 proteins are capable of promoting cancer progression, metastasis and chemoresistance. mut-p53 can exert its oncogenic functions by different mechanisms, a major one being the alteration of coding and non-coding (including miRNAs) gene expression profiles.

In the laboratory where this PhD project has been developed, miR-30d was recently identified as a novel target of mut-p53 and an effector of its oncogenic functions in breast cancer cells. In an attempt to dissect the molecular mechanisms underlying the effects exerted by the mut-p53/miR-30d axis, we have demonstrated that miR-30d impacts the cancer secretome, suggesting an effect on TME remodeling.

Starting from these observations, here I provided evidence that the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome is able to promote *in vitro* paracrine effects towards different components of TME, such as ECM, endothelial cells, fibroblasts, as well as other cancer cells. Moreover, the mut-p53/miR-30d axis also contributes to the loading of proteins within EVs. In addition, I showed that miR-30d secreted by cancer cells can exert a pro-oncogenic effect in non-transformed receiving cells and may represent a promising secreted biomarker associated with p53 status *in vivo*.

This study provides new insights into the mechanisms by which mut-p53, through miR-30d induction, can exert pro-tumorigenic functions in a paracrine fashion, and highlights potential non-invasive biomarkers and therapeutic targets to treat tumors harboring mut-p53.

### List of abbreviations

α-SMA	alpha smooth muscle actin
AFM	atomic force microscopy
BMDC	bone-marrow-derived cell
CAF	cancer-associated fibroblast
CCL	CC-chemokine ligand
СМ	conditioned medium
CXCL	CXC-chemokine ligand
DC	dendritic cell
dy	decoy
ECM	extracellular matrix
EMT	epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
EV	extracellular vesicle
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GO	gene ontology
GOF	gain of function
GSEA	gene set enrichment analysis
HIF	hypoxia-inducible factor
HSP	heat-shock protein
HUVEC	human umbilical vein endothelial cell
	tu A - ut - ut - tu
IL	interleukin
IL LOX	lysyl oxidase
IL LOX MDSC	lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell
IL LOX MDSC miRNA	lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP	lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53	lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK	lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF	lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN	lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN SASP	lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche senescence-associated secretory phenotype
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN SASP TAM	lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche senescence-associated secretory phenotype tumor-associated macrophage
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN SASP TAM TAZ	Interleukin lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche senescence-associated secretory phenotype tumor-associated macrophage transcriptional coactivator with a PDZ-binding domain
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN SASP TAM TAZ TCA	Interleukin lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche senescence-associated secretory phenotype tumor-associated macrophage transcriptional coactivator with a PDZ-binding domain trichloroacetic acid
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN SASP TAM TAZ TCA TGF	Interleukin lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche senescence-associated secretory phenotype tumor-associated macrophage transcriptional coactivator with a PDZ-binding domain trichloroacetic acid transforming growth factor
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN SASP TAM TAZ TCA TGF TME	Interleukin lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche senescence-associated secretory phenotype tumor-associated macrophage transcriptional coactivator with a PDZ-binding domain trichloroacetic acid transforming growth factor
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN SASP TAM TAZ TCA TGF TME TNF $\alpha$	Interleukin lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche senescence-associated secretory phenotype tumor-associated macrophage transcriptional coactivator with a PDZ-binding domain trichloroacetic acid transforming growth factor tumor microenvironment tumor necrosis factor alpha
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN SASP TAM SASP TAM TAZ TCA TGF TME TNFα Treg	Interleukin lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche senescence-associated secretory phenotype tumor-associated macrophage transcriptional coactivator with a PDZ-binding domain trichloroacetic acid transforming growth factor tumor microenvironment tumor necrosis factor alpha T regulatory cells
IL LOX MDSC miRNA MMP mut-p53 NK PDGF PMN SASP TAM SASP TAM TAZ TCA TGF TME TME TNFα Treg VEGF	Interleukin lysyl oxidase myeloid-derived suppressor cell microRNA matrix metalloproteinase mutant p53 natural killer cell platelet-derived growth factor pre-metastatic niche senescence-associated secretory phenotype tumor-associated macrophage transcriptional coactivator with a PDZ-binding domain trichloroacetic acid transforming growth factor tumor microenvironment tumor necrosis factor alpha T regulatory cells vascular endothelial growth factor

### 1. Introduction

Cancer is nowadays the second leading cause of death worldwide, following cardiovascular disease, with 9.6 million deaths estimated in 2018<sup>1</sup>. Tumor development involves a multistep process of genetic mutations and epigenetic changes that incites normal cells to progressively evolve towards a neoplastic state. Along this process, cancer cells acquire common features, known as the "Hallmarks of Cancer", including sustained proliferative signaling, evasion of growth suppressive checkpoints, resistance to cell death, replicative immortality, induction of angiogenesis, activation of invasion and metastasis, deregulation of cellular metabolism and evasion of the immune system<sup>2</sup>. The biology of tumors involves complex interactions that are established between cancer cells and the surrounding environment and are essential for cancer progression. The underlying mechanisms and involved cell types are not yet fully known and have to be explored. The characterization of these processes promises to shed new insights for therapeutic treatments against tumor development.

#### **1.1** The cancer ecosystem

Cancers are complex organ-like systems, where cancer cells undergo heterotypic and dynamic interactions with other tumor and non-tumor cells both contributing to the acquisition of oncogenic traits, similarly to natural ecosystems<sup>3–5</sup>. Studying cancer from an ecological perspective implies that tumor phenotypes are not fully tumor cell-autonomous, but rather that functional cooperative networks exist among multiple subpopulations<sup>4</sup>, including crosstalk between tumor cells inside the tumor mass and between tumor cells and stromal cells, which cooperate to shaping the tumor microenvironment (TME).

Importantly, the relationship between tumors and their surrounding microenvironment has a dual nature. In fact, microenvironment can both support cancer growth and survival, and, vice versa, limit it, competing for the availability of vital resources (e.g. oxygen, nutrients, metabolites) or triggering an immune response. Furthermore, non-cell-autonomous interactions between cancer cells and TME regulate tumor evolution. As the cancer progresses, leading to dissemination and colonization of secondary sites, the surrounding microenvironment co-evolves through continuous paracrine communication, creating dynamic and heterotypic signaling entities<sup>6</sup>.

#### **1.2** The tumor microenvironment (TME)

#### **1.2.1** Components of the primary tumor microenvironment

The TME is composed by a set of various stromal cells, such as fibroblasts, immune cells, blood and lymphatic vessels, pericytes and eventually adipocytes (Figure 1), enclosed in a heterogeneous extracellular matrix (ECM)<sup>7</sup>.



**Figure 1. The primary tumor microenvironment.** Cancer cells in primary tumors are surrounded by a complex microenvironment comprising numerous cells including a variety of immune and inflammatory cells, endothelial cells of the blood and lymphatic circulation and stromal fibroblasts. Moreover, bone-marrow-derived cells (BMDCs) can move from bone marrow to primary tumor site. (modified from <sup>8</sup>)

The type, activity and evolution of the cells in the TME resemble the processes of wound healing and inflammation. In fact, during classic wound healing response in a tissue, fibroblasts, inflammatory and immune cells are recruited, promoting angiogenesis and deposition of ECM to repair the wound. Likewise, accumulation of cancer cells in a given tissue causes a persistent tissue injury, thus initiating a chronic wound healing response, known as cancer fibrosis. Indeed, tumors are often described as "wounds that do not heal"<sup>9</sup>. In addition, cancer resembles a site of chronic inflammation, since neoplastic tissues are infiltrated by immune and inflammatory cells that can enhance tumor progression, by releasing bioactive molecules and ECM-modifying enzymes. Therefore, inflammation is recognized as an enabling characteristic of cancer<sup>2</sup>.

The origin of cancer-associated stromal cells is still controversial. They predominantly derive by proliferation of existing cells from the normal tissue adjacent to the tumor, or by differentiation of local stem/progenitor cells. In recent years, it has been found that bone marrow-derived stem/progenitor cells move to the tumor, where they can differentiate into stromal cell types or persist in an undifferentiated or partially differentiated state<sup>2,8</sup>.

The following paragraphs will present in detail those components of TME which will be further discussed in this thesis.

#### 1.2.1.1 The extracellular matrix (ECM)

The ECM is composed of two main classes of macromolecules: proteoglycans and fibrous proteins, among which the most important are collagens, elastins, fibronectins and laminins<sup>10</sup>. Collagen and elastin fibers are reoriented and cross-linked by the lysyl oxidase (LOX) enzyme family (including LOX and LOXL) and transglutaminase, forming larger and more rigid fibrils. Cell adhesion to the ECM is mediated by ECM receptors, such as integrins, discoidin domain receptors and syndecans. A bidirectional interdependence exists between cells and the surrounding ECM: cells constantly secrete and remodel ECM, whereas the latter in turn signals back to the cells and influences their features and activities<sup>11</sup>.

ECM components confer unique physical, biochemical and biomechanical properties that are essential for regulating cell behaviour<sup>12</sup>. Physical properties include rigidity, porosity, insolubility, spatial arrangement, orientation and other features that together define the scaffold supporting tissue architecture and integrity. Biochemical properties include ECM-derived chemical stimuli that initiate signal transduction cascades. Biomechanical properties related to elasticity of the ECM, ranging from soft to stiff, represent a cue that is perceived by the cells. The ECM also regulates the availability of growth factors and cytokines and maintains the hydration and pH of the local microenvironment.

The ECM is a highly dynamic structure that is constantly being remodeled and its molecular components are subjected to a myriad of post-translational modifications<sup>10</sup>. Tumors often display desmoplasia, characterized by increased deposition, altered organization and enhanced post-translational modifications of ECM proteins<sup>12</sup> (Figure 2). In particular, accumulation of collagens I, II and III, fibronectin, elastin, and changes in the levels and composition of proteoglycans have been observed in tumors<sup>13</sup>. Moreover, collagens are organized into thick linearized bundles. Abnormal changes in the amount and composition of the ECM can largely alter both its biochemical and physical properties, through reorientation of collagen fibers, ultimately potentiating the oncogenic effects of various signaling pathways. Tumors are usually stiffer than the surrounding normal tissues<sup>14–16</sup>. For example, breast cancer tissue can be up to 10-fold stiffer than normal breast tissue, on the order of 5 kPa and 0.4 kPa, respectively, as measured by Atomic Force Microscopy (AFM). Part of the increased stiffness is due to elevated activity of LOX, LOXL1 and LOXL2, that create the thick linearized collagen fibrils<sup>13,14</sup>.



**Figure 2. Differences between normal and cancer-associated ECM.** Normal ECM (in A) is essential for maintaining tissue integrity and an overall healthy microenvironment. During tumorigenesis, the ECM undergoes important changes (in B). In particular, there is an increased ECM deposition, accumulation and reorganization of collagens fibers, deregulated expression of ECM remodeling enzymes (such as proteases or LOX). This aberrant ECM leads also to increased stiffness of the tissue. (modified from <sup>12</sup>)

#### 1.2.1.2 Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs)

Fibroblasts are the major cell type in connective tissue, whose functions include deposition of ECM and basement membrane components, regulation of epithelial differentiation and modulation of immune response<sup>17</sup>. In normal tissue, fibroblasts are quiescent and become activated as part of wound healing responses to support the repair of injured tissue<sup>18</sup>. Activated fibroblasts acquire a stellate or cruciform shape, migratory and proliferative abilities, and the capacity to produce an active secretome (Figure 3). Due to a chronic wound healing response, TME is characterized by an aberrant number of activated fibroblasts that are called cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) and are clearly distinct from normal fibroblasts from a molecular and phenotypic viewpoint.



Figure 3. Activation of fibroblasts. Normal quiescent fibroblasts are embedded within the ECM of stromal tissue, interacting with their surrounding microenvironment through integrins. They typically appear as fusiform cells with a prominent actin cytoskeleton and vimentin intermediate filaments. Upon different stimuli, fibroblasts can acquire an activated phenotype, which is associated with an increased proliferative activity and enhanced secretion of ECM proteins such as collagens, fibronectin (EDA-fibronectin, that contains the extra domain A) and matricellular proteins (tenascin C and SPARC). Phenotypically, activated fibroblasts are commonly characterized by the expression of  $\alpha$ -smooth-muscle actin. (adapted from <sup>17</sup>)

Activated fibroblasts are commonly identified by their expression of  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), a cytoskeletal protein associated with smooth muscle cells<sup>19</sup>. In addition to  $\alpha$ -SMA, other important, but not specific, markers of activation are fibroblast-specific protein 1 (FSP1; also known as S100A4), vimentin, fibroblast activation protein (FAP), platelet-derived growth factor receptor  $\alpha$  (PDGFR $\alpha$ ), PDGFR $\beta$ , desmin and discoidin domain-containing receptor 2 (DDR2)<sup>18</sup>. Once activated, CAFs express distinct arrays of markers, creating a large degree of heterogeneity. Nevertheless, a common feature of activated fibroblasts is an increased production of constituents of the ECM and basement membranes, such as collagens (type I, III, IV and V), many different laminins, fibronectin and matricellular proteins, contributing to abnormal ECM stiffening<sup>18</sup>. CAFs participate also to ECM remodeling by producing ECM-degrading proteases such as the matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) MMP3 and MMP1. After activation, CAFs actively secrete protumorigenic growth factors, including VEGF-A, cytokines and chemokines, which affect immune cells' recruitment, activation and polarization, thereby promoting an immunosuppressive TME<sup>18,20</sup>. CAF activation requires also a transcriptional reprogramming, leading to deregulation of Notch and

p53 signaling pathways<sup>21</sup> and induction of the transcription cofactors Yes-associated protein (YAP)/transcriptional coactivator with a PDZ-binding domain (TAZ)<sup>22</sup>. Notably, YAP/TAZ, downstream effectors of the Hippo signaling pathway, are key sensors as well as mediators of mechanical signals exerted by the tissue environment, including ECM<sup>23</sup>. Activated YAP/TAZ are required for CAFs to promote ECM remodeling, supporting invasion and angiogenesis of cancer cells<sup>22</sup>. Moreover, YAP regulates multiple factors that modulate both matrix stiffness and cell mechanoresponsiveness, which further enhance YAP protein levels, establishing a feed-forward loop that maintains the CAF phenotype.

Activation of fibroblasts involves also metabolic rewiring, with an increased reliance on aerobic glycolysis instead of oxidative phosphorylation (Warburg effect), coupled with enhanced catabolic activity and autophagy. This metabolic adaptation may have a crucial role in redistributing nutrients for other cells of the TME and cancer cells. The drivers of this metabolic shifts are transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), PDGF, hypoxia-inducible factor 1 $\alpha$  (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) and reactive oxygen species (ROS)-mediated suppression of caveolin 1 (CAV1)<sup>24–26</sup>.

#### 1.2.1.3 The blood vascular network

Tumor vascularization requires the cooperation of vascular endothelial cells and pericytes<sup>27</sup>. The former create tight adhesions to guarantee vessel integrity, the latter provide vessel coverage and paracrine support signals.

Angiogenesis is a well-known hallmark of cancer<sup>2</sup>, responding to the increased requirement of oxygen and nutrients of a growing tumor. Angiogenic signals due to hypoxia or deriving from malignant or inflammatory cells, trigger an "angiogenic switch" in quiescent endothelial cells<sup>27,28</sup>. In this way, endothelial cells detach their junctional adhesions from neighbor cells, proliferate to form temporary tubes, recruit pericytes to provide stability and, finally, remodel to create a new network. Remarkably, the structure of tumor vasculature is abnormal<sup>29</sup>. Blood vessels are heterogeneous and leaky, with chaotic branching structures and a rough lumen. Moreover, a reduced coverage of tumor vessels by pericytes destabilizes vascular integrity and function. Vascular leakiness increases the interstitial fluid pressure altering blood flow, oxygenation, nutrient and drug distribution in the TME<sup>7</sup>.

#### 1.2.1.4 Other stromal cells

Immune cells present in tumors belong to both adaptive and innate systems<sup>7,8</sup>. Some cell types exert an immunosuppressive function, such as CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, natural killer (NK) and dendritic cells (DC). Conversely, other immune cells are able to promote tumor development, as in the case of T helper, T regulatory cells (Tregs), and B lymphocytes. Tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) are crucial for tumorigenesis<sup>30</sup>. Indeed, macrophages are functionally plastic, altering their polarization status from M1 to M2. While M1 macrophages produce type I proinflammatory cytokines with a tumoricidal role, on the contrary M2 macrophages produce type II cytokines and are anti-inflammatory and pro-tumorigenic<sup>31</sup>. TAMs resemble M2 macrophages and they influence tumor biology by producing growth-inducing molecules, regulating inflammatory response and adaptive immunity, enhancing angiogenesis and promoting ECM deposition and remodeling. Furthermore, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs) also play a key protumorigenic role<sup>32</sup>. They are functionally defined as immature immunosuppressive myeloid cells that maintain normal tissue homeostasis. During tumorigenesis, MDSCs are mobilized to primary tumor sites, where they promote vascularization and block the principal mechanisms of immune suppression.

In addition to blood vascular network, functional lymphatic vessels can be found at the tumor margin<sup>33</sup>. Indeed, tumors can drive peritumoral lymphangiogenesis to facilitate the spreading of metastases in the draining lymph nodes.

A growing body of evidence demonstrates that the adipose tissue has an important role in boosting cancer development, particularly establishing a highly proinflammatory environment and secreting many different cytokines, chemokines and hormone-like factors<sup>34</sup>. Intriguingly, several reports highlighted a role in tumorigenesis for neuroendocrine cells, which are able to influence the function of the immune system<sup>34</sup>.

8

#### **1.2.2** The TME at metastatic sites

The great majority of cancer-associated deaths (about 90%) are caused by metastatic disease rather than by the primary tumor. The dissemination of cancer cells from primary tumors and their subsequent seeding in distant tissues involves a multi-step process known as the invasion-metastasis cascade<sup>35,36</sup>. One of the initiating steps of this cascade is the epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT), during which cancer cells lose epithelial markers and gain mesenchymal traits that confer stem-like and migratory properties<sup>37</sup>. After invasion of the surrounding stromal tissue cancer cells intravasate into the circulatory system as circulating tumor cells (CTCs) and finally colonize a foreign microenvironment in a distant tissue<sup>36</sup>.

The microenvironment plays a central role in all the steps of the metastatic cascade<sup>38</sup>. Particularly, entry and colonization of CTCs into secondary and/or distant organ sites are key steps in the metastatic cascade and are critically affected by the local microenvironment, which determines whether or not tumor cell colonization will occur. The "seed and soil" hypothesis proposed by Stephen Paget more than a century ago tried to explain the organ tropism of metastasis<sup>39</sup>. Prometastatic cancer cells (the "seed") colonize specific organ sites (the "soil") bearing a favorable microenvironment. Some reports have in fact demonstrated that primary tumors can release factors and microvesicles in the bloodstream, able to modify the microenvironment in a secondary site in a way that it will be supportive for survival and growth of tumor cells before their arrival. This predetermined microenvironment is defined the "pre-metastatic niche" (PMN)<sup>40,41</sup>. Similarly to the primary tumor microenvironment, the PMN is characterized by an alteration of locally resident cells, such as fibroblast activation, and recruitment of BMDCs, including VEGFR-1<sup>+</sup> hematopoietic progenitor cells, CD11b<sup>+</sup> myeloid cells, and regulatory and suppressive immune cells (i.e. MDSCs, TAMs, Tregs)<sup>40</sup>. ECM remodeling as well is pivotal for establishing the PMN. It is achieved by two mechanisms: deposition of new ECM components (e.g. periostin, versican, tenascin C) and alteration of the physical properties of pre-existing ECM at PMN (e.g. collagen I crosslinking by LOX results in increased stiffness<sup>42</sup>).

#### **1.3 Cancer-derived mediators of communication within the TME**

Within solid tumors, communication between cancer cells and TME is extremely important for tumor progression and establishment of TME itself. Although heterotypic communication can occur in a contact-dependent manner by cell-cell interactions mediated by membrane receptor proteins or through gap junctions, it is mainly realized in a paracrine fashion, through secretion of soluble and insoluble factors, collectively called secretome<sup>43</sup>. The secretome consists mainly of proteins, but includes also lipids, metabolites, extracellular vesicles (EVs) with their cargo of proteins,

microRNA and mRNA. The secreted proteins in humans account for 13-20% of the entire cellular proteome and include all the proteins secreted either with the classical secretory pathway or unconventional mechanisms (e.g. proteins present within EVs accounts for up to 42% of the secretome<sup>44</sup>).

The secretome is involved in several physiological processes and is tightly regulated. Each cell type displays a specific secretome signature, which can change in response to pathological conditions, including cancer, which is characterized by an aberrant pattern of secretion<sup>45</sup>. The cancer secretomes have been shown to have both short-range and systemic effects, allowing the formation of a supportive and reactive microenvironment around the primary tumor and of a PMN, respectively<sup>46</sup>.

#### **1.3.1 Tumor-derived secreted molecules**

Cancer cells secrete a plethora of both protein (i.e. cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, proteases and ECM components) and non-protein molecules (e.g. metabolites and lipids), overall able to shape the surrounding primary TME<sup>43,44</sup>.

Cytokines, low-molecular-weight proteins, are well-known mediators of inflammation and are also involved in tumor growth, EMT, angiogenesis, and metastasis<sup>47</sup>. They can modulate both a pro- and anti-tumor response, depending on the balance of pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines, expression of their receptors and the activation state of surrounding cells. The most important cytokines involved in tumor development are tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ), transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), interleukin 1 (IL-1), IL-6, and IL-10.

Chemokines are small secreted peptides that mediate the chemotactic migration of cells expressing appropriate chemokine receptors<sup>48</sup>. Among the most common, there are CC-chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2, also known as MCP1), CCL5, CCL21, CXC-chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12, known also as SDF-1), CXCL1, CXCL2, CXCL8. Their principal function is to mediate immune cells and BMDCs recruitment within TME.

The main growth factors present in the extracellular milieu are epidermal growth factor (EGF), transforming growth factor  $\alpha$  (TGF- $\alpha$ ), fibroblast growth factor (FGF), platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) and vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A)<sup>49</sup>. VEGF-A is the major angiogenetic growth factor in the TME and together with EGF, PDGF, TGF- $\beta$  and chemokines, stimulate endothelial cells and pericytes during neoangiogenesis<sup>28</sup>.

Proteases can be present in the extracellular space either associated to membranes or secreted. The most relevant within the TME are matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and ADAMs (A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase), cathepsins and urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA)<sup>50</sup>. They are

responsible for pericellular proteolysis, leading to ECM degradation and cleavage of cell adhesion molecules, growth factors, cytokines and kinases. In this way, they allow cancer cells to proliferate, survive, locally invade, colonize distant organs and, in addition, they can regulate angiogenesis and immune response.

Besides structural ECM components and enzymes (e.g. LOX family), cancer cells secrete also matricellular proteins, not playing a primary role in ECM structure but able to modulate cell interactions and functions<sup>51</sup>. In cancer, matricellular proteins are involved in different steps of tumorigenesis due to their ability to bind different cell receptors<sup>52</sup>. The matricellular protein family includes thrombospondins, tenascins, SPARC (Secreted Protein Acidic And Cysteine Rich), periostin, osteopontin and CCN proteins (among which CYR61 and CTGF)<sup>53</sup>.

Cancer cells undergo global metabolic reprogramming and, as a result of an accelerated and imbalanced metabolism, tumor-derived metabolites accumulate in the TME. Strikingly, recent evidence suggests that such metabolites can act as signaling molecules, impairing antitumor immunity<sup>54,55</sup>. In fact, increased secretion of lactate by cancer cells can repress monocytes and T cells<sup>56,57</sup>, promote M2 macrophages polarization<sup>58</sup> and furthermore modulate angiogenesis in endothelial cells<sup>59,60</sup>. An immunosuppressive function has been showed also for extracellular adenosine and its associated nucleotides (i.e. ATP, ADP, AMP), which can impinge on DCs and T cells activity<sup>61</sup>. In addition, cancer cells secrete in the extracellular milieu bioactive lipid mediators capable of mediating tumor-stroma communication<sup>62</sup>. The most characterized are prostaglandin E2 (PGE<sub>2</sub>), which stimulate angiogenesis and immunosuppression, and sphingosine-1-phosphate (S1P), which is involved in angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis.

All these factors secreted by the primary tumor can play critical roles in preparing the PMN, exerting a systemic effect<sup>46</sup>. This was firstly shown by Kaplan and colleagues, by injecting a Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC) cell line into the flank of syngeneic mice pretreated with melanoma conditioned medium (CM)<sup>63</sup>. LLC cells normally metastatize only to the lung, but in melanoma CM-treated mice, their metastatization was redirected to organs typically associated with melanoma metastasis, demonstrating the essential role of tumor-secreted factors in metastatic organotropism. One of the major functions of secreted factors is to recruit BMDCs in host tissue in order to form the PMN and favor the homing of cancer cells<sup>41,64</sup>. For example it has been reported that secretion of VEGF-A, TNF $\alpha$  and TGF- $\beta$  by the primary tumor induces expression of the inflammatory chemoattractants S100A8 and S100A9, which in turn recruit CD11b<sup>+</sup> myeloid cells to premetastatic lung<sup>65</sup>. Once secreted into circulation from primary breast tumors, LOX colocalized with fibronectin at sites of future metastasis where it served to crosslink collagen IV in the lung basement membrane, increasing the presence of CD11b<sup>+</sup> myeloid cells<sup>66</sup>. Noteworthy, ATP or UTP

released from highly metastatic breast cancer cells activate the P2Y<sub>2</sub> receptor to facilitate PMN formation by mediating LOX secretion, collagen crosslinking and monocytes recruitment<sup>67</sup>.

#### **1.3.2 Extracellular vesicles (EVs)**

EVs are membrane-encapsulated particles released by any type of cell into the extracellular space and are detectable in various body fluids, such as blood, urine and milk<sup>68</sup>. EVs are involved in intercellular communication at both the local and the systemic level. They participate in a plethora of physiological processes (e.g. coagulation, immunity, stem cell differentiation, tissue regeneration, autophagy, pregnancy and embryology) and also pathological conditions, such as neurodegenerative diseases and cancer<sup>69,70</sup>. In the latter context, tumor-secreted EVs are involved in a wide range of oncogenic processes, including inflammatory response, angiogenesis, cell migration and proliferation, invasion and EMT, metastasis. Indeed it has been demonstrated that cancer cells secrete more EVs than non-transformed cells<sup>71</sup>.

#### Biogenesis and characteristics of EVs

Based on the current knowledge of their biogenesis, EVs can be divided into two main categories: exosomes and microvesicles (also commonly called ectosomes or microparticles or oncosomes)<sup>72</sup>. Exosomes are small vesicles, ranging from 30 to 150-200 nm in diameter, with a lipid bilayer membrane. They derive from intraluminal vesicles (ILVs) formed by the inward budding of endosomal membrane during maturation of multivesicular bodies (MVBs), which are intermediates of the endosomal system, and secreted upon fusion of MVBs with the cell surface (Figure 4.A). Their biogenesis and release are modulated by the endosomal sorting complex required for transport (ESCRT) machinery and the ceramide-dependent pathway<sup>73,74</sup>. Instead, microvesicles range in size from 100 nm to 1000 nm in diameter, but can be even larger (up to 10 µm) in the case of oncosomes<sup>75</sup>. They are generated by the outer budding and fission of the plasma membrane and the subsequent release into the extracellular space. Their biogenesis involves plasma membrane reorganization, redistribution of phospholipids, disassembly of the cytoskeleton network, and contraction of the actin-myosin machinery (Figure 4A).



#### Figure 4. EVs biogenesis and cargo contents.

A) Schematic overview of the biogenesis pathways of EVs in a cell. Exosome biogenesis, in the upper part, starts from late endosome/MVBs (derived from the endocytic process), in which the inward budding of the membrane forms intraluminal vesicles (ILVs). MVBs traffic to and fuse with the plasma membrane to release ILVs into the extracellular space, where the ILVs are recognized as exosomes. Two pathways, ESCRT-independent or ESCRT-dependent, operate in parallel for exosomes generation. Alternatively, MVBs can fuse with lysosomes, resulting in degradation. The biogenesis and release of microvesicles, in the lower part, includes the reorganization of plasma membrane, with the repositioning of phosphatidylserine to its outer layer. These particular domains are then released from cell as microvesicles via direct budding through ARF6 and rearrangement of the actin cytoskeleton. (modified from  $^{70}$ )

**B**) A schematic representation of the overall content of both EVs. In addition to their different sizes, EVs differ only partially for their compositions in terms of proteins families, lipids and nucleic acids. Note that each listed component may be present only in one of the two subtypes of EVs. (adapted from  $^{76}$ )

EVs are carriers of lipids and proteins<sup>76</sup> (Figure 4B). This content can vary widely between cells and conditions, directly affecting their fate and functions. However, the two EV types share some properties and differ in many others. Both EVs have high levels of cholesterol, sphingomyelin, ceramide and phosphatidylserine. Instead, exosome membranes are enriched in tetraspanins (such as CD63, CD9, CD81), flotillin, adhesion molecules (e.g. ICAM-1), integrins, proteoglycans (e.g. Glypican-1), while that of microvesicles abound with some receptors, glycoproteins and metalloproteinases. The cargoes enclosed within the lumina of all EV types contain many cytosolic proteins, most of which have cytoskeletal function (e.g. actin, tubulin, annexin). Classical exosome cargoes include heat shock proteins (HSP70 and HSP90), synthesis proteins (Alix and TSG101) and enzymes (pyruvate kinase, enolase, GAPDH). It has been demonstrated that EVs carry also nucleic acids; their function and role in cell-to-cell communication will be further analyzed in the next paragraph.

#### Roles of EVs in cancer progression

EVs can fuse with recipient cells in the TME, both in the vicinity (horizontal transfer) and in a distant tissue. As a consequence, their molecular cargoes are transferred inside the receiving cells, eliciting changes in function and gene expression. For these reasons, EVs acquire a pivotal role in all the steps of cancer progression, from primary tumor development to PMN formation and metastasis.

Tumor EVs exert complex effects on neighboring cells. Tumor-secreted EVs participate in the horizontal propagation of oncogenic molecules (e.g. EGFRvIII and mutant KRAS) between cancer cells within the primary tumor<sup>77,78</sup>. Noteworthy, in breast cancer and hepatocellular carcinoma, cancer-derived EVs might induce transforming effects when taken up by normal cells of the same tissue<sup>79,80</sup>.

Tumor EVs influence also surrounding stromal cells. Exosomes from prostate cancer and mesothelioma cell lines contain TGF- $\beta$  that activate normal fibroblasts into CAFs<sup>81,82</sup>. Several studies reported the ability of EVs to promote both proliferation and proangiogenic activity in endothelial cells<sup>83,84</sup>. In various cancer contexts EVs modulate evasion from immune surveillance, mainly through the loading of several immunoregulatory molecules which can induce modifications in the maturation and activity of different cells of the immune systems<sup>83,84</sup>. On the other hand, EVs can stimulate immunity against cancer because they express MHC class I molecules and/or tumor antigens which can be transferred to DCs for antigen presentation and induction of specific antitumor immune responses<sup>83,85</sup>.

Furthermore, EVs can promote local tumor invasion through ECM remodeling achieved with bioactive cargoes, such as Annexins,  $\alpha$ 3 integrins, ADAM10, ARF6, Cav-1, MMP9, MMP2<sup>86,87</sup>.

Over the last 10 years, great importance has been given to circulating EVs that can mediate the reprogramming or education of multiple cell types, such as fibroblasts, endothelial cells, macrophages and BMDCs at distant sites, creating the PMN. For example, melanoma-exosomes containing the receptor tyrosine kinase MET foster PMN formation in the lung through the reprograming of BMDCs<sup>88</sup>. These exosomes also promote vascular leakiness in the lung, dysregulated ECM remodeling and increased expression of inflammatory proteins, which resulted in the recruitment of reprogrammed BMDCs at lung PMN. In pancreatic tumors, exosomes loaded with macrophage migration inhibitory factor MIF promote TGF- $\beta$  expression and secretion in Kupffer cells, the resident macrophages in the liver, stimulating neighboring hepatic stellate cells to secrete fibronectin<sup>89</sup>. These cells subsequently facilitate the recruitment of BMDCs and ultimately complete PMN formation. Remarkably, exosomes can dictate metastasis organotropism. Hoshino *et al.* demonstrated that exosomes from breast cancer express a unique integrin profile that addresses

them to specific target organs, where they prepare the PMN by fusing with resident cells and upregulating pro-inflammatory S100 molecules<sup>90</sup>.

There is also evidence about the role of tumor-derived microvesicles in PMN formation, for example contributing to BMDCs mobilization through osteopontin<sup>91</sup> or promoting endothelial cell activation mediated by AKT phosphorylation<sup>92</sup>. Tumor-derived large oncosomes containing metalloproteinases, CAV-1 and ARF6, are biologically active toward tumor cells, endothelial cells as well as fibroblasts at distant sites<sup>87</sup>.

#### 1.3.3 Cancer-secreted nucleic acids and microRNAs

Circulating nucleic acids are known to be present in human blood, reflecting physiological and pathological conditions, including cancer<sup>93</sup>. They have become increasingly popular due to their potential use as a "liquid biopsy", which is a tool for non-invasive diagnosis, prognosis and monitoring of diseases, in particular of cancer. In addition, recent evidence indicates active trafficking of nucleic acids between cells, highlighting their involvement in cell-to-cell communication<sup>94</sup>.

In order to be protected from nuclease-mediated degradation in the extracellular space and in body fluids, most of circulating nucleic acids (including DNA fragments, mRNAs and noncoding RNAs (ncRNAs)), are loaded into EVs<sup>95,96</sup> and, in this way, can shuttle between cells<sup>97</sup>.

Tumor exosomal DNA may reflect the oncogenic mutational status of parental tumor cells and affect the metastatic behaviors of recipient cancer cells once transferred. For example, medulloblastoma-derived microvesicles contain high levels of single-stranded DNA fragments, which amplify the oncogene c-Myc<sup>98</sup>. Full length or sometimes fragmented mRNA are carried by EVs to recipient cells, in which they can be actively translated<sup>97</sup>. mRNAs in cancer-derived EVs can promote angiogenesis and PMN formation<sup>99–101</sup>.

Among secreted ncRNAs, microRNAs (miRNAs), long ncRNAs (lncRNAs) and circular RNAs (circRNAs) have been demonstrated to be involved in cell-to-cell communication<sup>95</sup>, the most extensively studied class being that of miRNAs. Secreted miRNAs were found in several body fluids, in which they operate as hormone-like molecules to influence the behaviors of different cells in a paracrine or endocrine manner<sup>102</sup>. The most well-studied way of extracellular miRNAs secretion is the packaging within exosomes, but they are detected also in complexes with the proteins Argonaute 2 (AGO2)<sup>103,104</sup> or nucleophosmin 1 (NPM1)<sup>105</sup> or with high density lipoproteins (HDLs)<sup>106</sup>. Owing to their high abundance and stability, circulating miRNAs carry potential utility as non-invasive, blood-based biomarkers that can provide information on tumor biology and the effects of treatments. Cancer-secreted miRNAs can be delivered to other cells in the

TME where they can finely modulate target genes expression, thus reprogramming the TME and favoring cancer progression. Further, tumor-derived exosomes, but not those released by normal cells, contain key enzymes involved in miRNA biogenesis, which enables cell-independent miRNA biogenesis within exosomes<sup>107</sup>.

Secreted miRNAs at primary tumor sites have been shown to affect several processes, among which invasion (miR-10b), activation of fibroblasts (miR-155), angiogenesis (miR-21, miR-494, miR-9, miR-210), and modulation of immune response (miR-150, miR-203, miR-23 and others)<sup>84,108</sup>. Interestingly, tumor-secreted miR-21 and miR-29a in exosomes bind to the highly conserved pathogen recognition Toll-like receptor 8 (TLR8) in macrophages, stimulating downstream activation of the NF-κB pathway and secretion of inflammatory cytokines<sup>109</sup>. Recently, it has been demonstrated that MYC activity in breast cancer cells leads to the secretion of miR-105-containing exosomes, which, taken up by surrounding CAFs, activates in turn a MYC-driven metabolic program that fuels cancer cell growth by releasing important metabolites in the TME<sup>110</sup>.

In the last years, great attention was given to the contribution of miRNAs packaged inside EVs on metastasis dissemination, seeding and outgrowth. Metastatic breast cancer cells that secrete miR-105-containing exosomes cause vascular permeability by destroying tight junction protein ZO1 in recipient endothelial cells<sup>111</sup>. Instead, miR-181c from breast cancer-derived EVs is able to disrupt the permeability of endothelial cells of the blood-brain barrier<sup>112</sup>. Several secreted miRNAs, such as miR-494, miR-542p, miR-1247-3p, can participate in the formation of a reactive PMN<sup>113,114</sup>. In particular, breast cancer-derived microvesicles transfer miR-122 to stromal cells (i.e. lung fibroblasts, brain astrocytes and neurons) where, by inhibiting pyruvate kinase and thus preventing glucose uptake from the PMN, they increase glucose availability for the metastatic cancer cells<sup>115</sup>. Moreover, large oncosomes can mediate intercellular transfer of miR-1227 from tumorigenic prostate cells to CAFs, enhancing their migration to secondary sites for PMN formation<sup>116</sup>.

#### **1.4 Regulation of cancer secretome reprogramming**

The cancer secretome is finely tuned and actively regulated by cancer cells, in order to change their interactions with the TME for the ultimate purpose of enhancing tumor growth and progression. This reprogramming of the secretome is modulated by cancer cells in response to various stimuli and/or alterations that arise from both extracellular and intracellular sources.

For instance, the extracellular environment is characterized by the presence of biomechanical forces, such as solid stresses, increased matrix stiffness and abnormal interstitial fluid pressure and flow<sup>117</sup>. These biomechanical forces can impinge on the behavior of cancer cells and on their interactions with the TME. In fact, solid stress and ECM stiffness activate the cellular production

and secretion of WNT family proteins<sup>13</sup>. Moreover, ECM stiffness can release latent TGF- $\beta$  from the ECM, increasing its availability within TME. Tumors use the abnormal interstitial fluid flow to generate autologous gradients of soluble factors (such as cytokines) responsible for both cancer and stromal cells' migration through chemotaxis<sup>118</sup>.

Furthermore, cancer cells have been shown to modify the surrounding microenvironment during the adaptive response to proteotoxic stress at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER). ER stress is the result of both a strong environmental pressure (such as hypoxia, glucose deprivation, oxidative stress and low pH) and a high demand in protein synthesis and secretion due to hyperproliferation<sup>45</sup>. To resolve this proteotoxic stress and maintain protein homeostasis, cells activate the unfolded protein response (UPR). In addition to its intrinsic effect on tumor biology, activation of UPR can modulate the expression and secretion of ECM components, MMPs, pro-angiogenic factors and pro-inflammatory as well as immunogenic molecules<sup>119,120</sup>.

Instead, the hypoxic stress is a well-characterized extrinsic factor, which causes an adaptive response in cancer cells, with a complex and significant impact on TME that will be discuss below. Finally, cancer cells present deregulated expression of miRNAs, which, acting as pleiotropic modulators of gene expression, allow cancer cells to transform the TME. Moreover, genetic alterations in signaling pathways presented by cancer cells exert not only a cell-autonomous effect initiating and/or promoting malignant transformation, but can also have a non-cell-autonomous effect, fostering tumorigenesis. These aspects will be addressed in detail in the following paragraphs.

#### 1.4.1 Hypoxia

Due to rapid cancer cell proliferation and aberrant tumor vascularization, solid tumors present regions with reduced oxygen availability, namely hypoxia. Cancer cells adapt to hypoxic environment through the transcriptional activity of hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs), that function as heterodimers: an oxygen-regulated HIF-1 $\alpha$  (or HIF-2 $\alpha$ ) subunit and a constitutively expressed HIF-1 $\beta$  subunit<sup>121</sup>. HIFs' transcriptional activity in cancer cells mediates angiogenesis, metabolic regulation, invasion, metastasis and it has also an influence on the TME, in terms of recruitment of stromal components and regulating intercellular communication<sup>122,123</sup>.

The principal outcome of HIFs' response is vascularization. In both tumor and stromal cells, HIF-1 $\alpha$  promotes the secretion of angiogenetic factors, such as VEGF-A, that influences endothelial cells, pericytes and BMDCs to promote the growth of new vessels. In addition, HIF-1 $\alpha$  regulates lymphangiogenesis by secretion of VEGF-C and PDGF-B<sup>124</sup>. HIF1 controls secretion of signaling molecules, such as TGF- $\beta$ , bFGF, PDGF-B, to prompt activation of fibroblasts in the TME. Under hypoxic conditions, cancer cells synthesize chemokines and cytokines to recruit immunosuppressive Tregs and MDSCs, and secrete chemoattractants (e.g. SEM3A, EMAPII, ET-1 and -2) to promote the chemotaxis of macrophages from the blood<sup>123</sup>.

Importantly, hypoxia affects ECM deposition and remodeling by inducing expression of collagene genes and regulating that of intracellular collagen-modifying enzymes and extracellular crosslinking enzymes<sup>125</sup>. Furthermore, hypoxia contributes to ECM degradation, upregulating the expression of MMP2, MMP9, MMP15, and of urokinase receptor (uPAR), while downregulating the tissue inhibitors of MMPs TIMP2 and TIMP3.

Hypoxic signaling may exert a long-distance effect to promote PMN formation<sup>126</sup>. Breast cancer cells exposed to hypoxia secrete LOX, LOXL2 and LOXL4 causing collagen remodeling in lung and, consequently, allowing the recruitment of BMDCs to this primed area<sup>66</sup>. Hypoxic breast tumors favor metastasis to the bone through secretion of parathyroid hormone-related protein (PTHrP) and LOX into the circulation, where they precondition the bone marrow for metastatic colonization<sup>127,128</sup>.

Hypoxic microenvironment can control quantity and quality of EVs release. Indeed, increased quantities of exosomes are released under hypoxic conditions compared with normoxic ones<sup>129</sup>. Breast cancer cell lines exposed to hypoxia boost microvesicles shedding mediated by the HIF-dependent expression of the small GTPase RAB22A<sup>130</sup>. Hypoxia can alter the miRNAs profile within exosomes, for example promoting the release of miR-135, miR-210, miR-103a<sup>84,131</sup>.

#### **1.4.2 Aberrant miRNA expression**

miRNAs, major players of post-transcriptional gene regulation, exert pleiotropic effects in multiple steps of cancer progression<sup>132</sup>. Cancer cells present aberrant miRNAs expression, due to several mechanisms, such as chromosomal deletion or amplification, mutations, epigenetic silencing and transcriptional dysregulation. Another level of regulation affects the enzymes involved in miRNAs biogenesis, namely Drosha and Dicer.

Increasing evidence show that miRNAs can have a non-cell-autonomous role in cancer cells<sup>133,134</sup>. In addition to their direct role in intercellular communication within TME through their secretion from cancer cells (as described in paragraph 1.3.3), altered miRNAs expression in cancer cells promotes tumorigenesis by transforming the TME.

Endothelial cells function is regulated by several miRNAs. In breast cancer cells, MYC/MYCNinduced miR-9 targets E-cadherin, which in turn activates  $\beta$ -catenin signaling increasing VEGF-A expression and angiogenesis<sup>135</sup>. miR-126 is frequently suppressed in various types of cancer and thus it promotes endothelial cells recruitment by deregulating the signaling cascades in which its three main target genes are involved, namely *MERTK*, *IGFBP2* and *PITPNC1*<sup>136</sup>. The downregulation of miR-29b by the loss of GATA3 enhances angiogenesis and ECM remodeling due to the deregulation of its target (VEGF-A, ANGPTL4, PDGF, LOX, MMP9)<sup>137</sup>.

miRNAs are important regulators of ECM formation and remodeling<sup>138</sup>. In nasopharyngeal carcinomas, miR-29c downregulation induces the expression of ECM proteins, including COL1A2, COL3A1, COL4A1 and laminin- $\gamma 1^{139}$ . Furthermore, several miRNAs have been found to regulate, directly or indirectly, the expression of MMPs.

Multiple miRNAs are involved in regulation of immune and inflammatory response, mainly affecting, directly or indirectly, cytokines secretion. Downregulation of miR-126/126\* levels in breast tumors lead to increased levels of both CXCL12 and CCL2 thereby promoting recruitment of inflammatory monocytes<sup>140</sup>. In hepatocellular carcinoma, miR-34a, suppressed by TGF-β, causes an increased production of CCL22 important for Tregs recruitment<sup>141</sup>. Among miRNAs which indirectly regulate cytokines release, miR-135 is worth mentioning in anaplastic large cell lymphomas<sup>142</sup>, miR-30b and miR-30d in melanoma<sup>143</sup>, and miR-145 in head and neck cancer<sup>144</sup>.

Surprisingly, the miR-200 family promotes metastatic colonization of breast cancer altering the cancer cell-derived secretome by targeting *SEC23A*, which mediates secretion of metastasis-suppressive proteins, including IGFBP4 and TINAGL1<sup>145</sup>.

#### **1.4.3** Genetic alterations in signaling pathways

Cancer cells are characterized by genetic alterations in proto-oncogenes and tumor suppressors and epigenetic changes that confer the ability to divide and grow in an unscheduled way<sup>2</sup>. Genetic alterations in signaling pathways that control cell-cycle progression, apoptosis, and cell growth are common hallmarks of cancer<sup>146</sup>. Besides cell-intrinsic functions, these signaling pathways can affect also the TME through non-cell-autonomous effects, modulating the secretion of soluble factors and altering secretion and cargo assembly of EVs<sup>147</sup>.

For instance, constitutively activating mutations in the tyrosine kinase domain of HER2 upregulate the expression of multiple growth factors including TGF- $\beta$  and - $\alpha$ , amphiregulin and VEGF, supporting both an autocrine and paracrine signalling<sup>148</sup>. Several reports have implicated the oncogenic Ras pathway in TME modulation at least in part due to production of cytokines and chemokines, such as IL-8, IL-6, TGF- $\beta$ , GM-CSF (Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor)<sup>148–151</sup>. Moreover, in colorectal cancer cells mutant KRAS affects proteins and miRNAs content within exosomes, altering also the metabolic state of recipient epithelial cells<sup>78,152,153</sup>. Also relevant to cite here is endogenous MYC that in tumor cells regulates changes in the TME, sustaining angiogenesis by VEGF signaling and allowing a complex inflammatory response<sup>154</sup>.

Increased amounts of proteins loaded into EVs and enhanced membrane budding were observed in brain tumor cells harboring oncogenic EGFRvIII<sup>77,155</sup>. Overexpression of a constitutively active form of AKT1 triggers formation of large oncosomes by prostate cancer cells<sup>75</sup>.

YAP, the transcriptional regulator of the Hippo pathway, favors the secretion of the growth factor amphiregulin and of matricellular proteins (such as CYR61 and CTGF)<sup>156,157</sup>. YAP has been demonstrated as a critical regulator of immunosuppressive microenvironment: in prostate cancer it regulates the secretion of CXCL5 to recruit MDSCs<sup>158</sup>; in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma YAP drives the expression and secretion of multiple cytokines and chemokines, promoting differentiation and accumulation of MDSCs and macrophage reprogramming<sup>159</sup>.

The p53 signaling pathway, which is one of the most commonly altered pathways in cancer, will be deeply described in a next section, being the focus of this thesis.

#### 1.5 The p53 pathway in cancer

One of the most important signaling pathways involved in cancer is the p53 pathway. The p53 protein is primarily involved in restraining tumor onset and outgrowth. Not surprisingly, inactivating mutations in *TP53* are most frequent in human tumors and associated with adverse prognosis in various cancer types<sup>160</sup>. Germline *TP53* mutations cause the rare Li-Fraumeni cancer predisposition syndrome<sup>161</sup> and mice lacking one or both *Trp53* alleles are prone to develop spontaneous tumors<sup>162</sup>.

#### 1.5.1 Wild-type p53

The human *TP53* gene encodes for a sequence-specific DNA binding protein that functions primarily as a tetrameric transcription factor. p53 belongs to a family of related proteins, including also p63 and p73, which exert important roles in organism development and both possess tumor suppressive activities. The p53 protein consists of two N-terminal transactivation domains followed by a conserved proline-rich domain, a central DNA binding domain, and a C-terminal region encoding its nuclear localization signals, and an oligomerization domain required for transcriptional activity.

p53 responds to diverse stresses, including hyperproliferative signals, DNA damage, ribonucleotide depletion, oxidative stress, hypoxia, and nutrient starvation, which may compromise genomic stability promoting neoplastic transformation<sup>163</sup> (Figure 5). Indeed, p53 acts as the "guardian of the genome", because it prevents the accumulation of oncogenic mutations and limits their

consequences<sup>164,165</sup>. In unstressed cells, p53 is maintained at low levels through degradation, mainly mediated by the MDM2 E3-ubiquitin ligase in complex with the related protein MDM4 (known as MDMX in humans). Stress-induced post-translational modifications of both p53 and MDM2/MDM4 abolish their interaction, leading to p53 stabilization, accumulation and induction of its transcriptional activity. The best characterized p53 responses are cell cycle arrest either transient or permanent (senescence), and programmed cell death (apoptosis).



**Figure 5. p53-activating signals and responses that are important for tumor suppression.** In tumors, a host of different stresses can activate p53, including nutrient deprivation, hypoxia, oxidative stress, hyperproliferative signals, DNA damage and ribonucleotide depletion. Activation of p53 can consequently promote diverse responses that ultimately lead to tumor suppression. The canonical responses (on the left side) consist in cell cycle arrest, senescence, apoptosis and DNA repair. However, beyond these classical responses, activated p53 can modulate several additional cellular processes (on the right side), including opposing oncogenic metabolic reprogramming, activating autophagy, inhibiting stem cell self-renewal and reprogramming of differentiated cells into stem cells, restraining invasion and metastasis, and promoting communication within the tumor microenvironment. (adapted from <sup>163</sup>)

The p53 pathway controls the G1/S and G2/M checkpoint mechanisms to block cell-cycle progression, thus preventing propagation of DNA damage while cells attempt to repair it. p53 can induce G1 arrest through transcriptional induction of the cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor p21  $(CDKN1A)^{166}$  and G2 arrest by inducing *GADD45* and *SFN*  $(14-3-3\sigma)^{167,168}$ . However, if the damage is too severe, p53 promotes apoptotic cell death to avoid the division of cells with unrepaired DNA. To this aim, p53 induces the expression of pro-apoptotic genes (*BAX, BID*,

*PUMA*, *NOXA*, *TP53AIP1*) while repressing anti-apoptotic genes (*BCL2*, *BCLXL*)<sup>163</sup>, or it promotes apoptosis in transcriptional-independent ways<sup>169,170</sup>. Interestingly, in response to oxidative stress, p53 can induce necrosis instead of apoptosis<sup>171</sup>. Upon DNA damage and oncogenic stress, p53 activation can also lead to senescence, a permanent cell-cycle arrest and relevant onco-suppressor mechanism. Indeed, restoration of p53 in various p53-deficient tumors causes complete tumor regression through induction of senescence<sup>163</sup>.

Besides these antiproliferative responses, p53 can regulate several cellular processes such as metabolic reprogramming, accumulation of reactive oxygen species, autophagy, stem cell maintenance, invasion and metastasis<sup>163</sup> (Figure 5). The cellular context, including cell type, epigenetic state, stress and environmental signals, contributes to modulate p53 activity and to direct the biological outcome of p53 response<sup>165</sup>.

In addition to transcriptional regulation of protein-coding genes, p53 transcriptionally induces expression of miRNAs to carry out its tumor suppressive functions<sup>172</sup>. The most studied p53-regulated miRNAs belong to miR-34 family, which promote p53-mediated apoptosis, cell cycle arrest and senescence. Furthermore, p53 is able to modulate the transcription of miRNAs, their maturation and accessibility to their corresponding targets.

#### 1.5.1.1 Non-cell-autonomous functions of p53

Although the function of p53 as a brake against cancer development has been extensively studied at the cell-autonomous level, more recent data point also to non-cell-autonomous effects of p53 in stimulating an anti-tumorigenic microenvironment<sup>163</sup>. Indeed, once cells enter senescence, they develop a senescence-associated secretory phenotype (SASP), characterized by high secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines and immune modulators, which provoke immune surveillance to eliminate senescent cells. During senescence, p53 can modulate the SASP in non-malignant and tumor cell lines, thus promoting an antitumor microenvironment to restrain cancer in a non-cellautonomous way. In fact, after liver damage, hepatic stellate cells expressing p53 undergo senescence and their SASP includes factors that shift macrophages toward the anti-tumorigenic M1 phenotype and activate NK cells, ultimately leading to clearance of senescent cells<sup>173</sup>. Instead, loss of p53 in hepatic stellate cells promotes an M2 phenotype in macrophages, increasing liver fibrosis and enhancing transformation of adjacent epithelial cells into hepatocellular carcinoma. p53 reactivation in liver tumors drives senescence and tumor regression through upregulation of inflammatory cytokines thereby triggering an innate immune response<sup>174</sup>. Moreover, gene expression analyses prove that p53 directly induces numerous genes involved in the recruitment of immune cells and immune surveillance<sup>175</sup>.

Recently it has been found that p53 is able to alter the liver secretome differently under various conditions<sup>176</sup>. In the physiological state, p53 controls secreted factors that are related mainly to lipid metabolism and injury response. Conversely, upon exposure to various chemotherapeutic drugs, activated p53 rewires the secretome profile, inducing the secretion of proteins related to insulin, glucocorticoids, ECM modulators, cell adhesion and immune response.

Other evidence involves the role of p53 in the regulation of exosome release from cells *in vitro*. Upon activation by DNA damage, p53 transcriptionally upregulates the expression of *TSAP6* and *CHMP4C*, which enhance production of exosomes from lung cancer cells<sup>177,178</sup>. Lately, it has been shown that p53 regulates *HGS* expression, which is necessary for the maintenance of larger-sized exosomes in colorectal cancer<sup>179</sup>. Even more intriguing is the demonstration that endogenous p53 protein has been found released within exosomes *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and that suppressed growth and proliferation after being transferred to p53-deficient cells<sup>180</sup>.

#### 1.5.2 Mutant p53 proteins

Extensive characterization of somatic mutations in human cancers highlighted *TP53* as the most commonly altered gene, with variable frequencies between tumor types<sup>160</sup>. Unlike most tumor suppressor genes, which are predominantly inactivated by deletion or truncation, *TP53* is frequently inactivated by missense mutations (73.15% according to current release of the IARC TP53 database<sup>181</sup>, R19, August 2018) (Figure 6A). As a consequence, in the vast majority of tumors, cells express a full-length mutant form of p53, which differs from the wild-type counterpart in a single amino acid substitution. Most of these missense mutations occur within the DNA binding domain, with six residues mutated at high frequency, called "hot spot" mutations (R248, R273, R175, G245, R249, and R282)<sup>182</sup> (Figure 6B). These missense mutations are classified in two main categories according to the structural alteration and stability on p53 protein: DNA-contact mutations, that change amino acids critical for DNA binding, and conformational mutations, that cause local or global conformational alteration on the protein structure<sup>183</sup>.

The functional impact of *TP53* mutations can be classified into three non-mutually exclusive groups<sup>184</sup> (Figure 6C). First, mutations can abrogate or attenuate the tumor suppressor function of wild-type p53 (wt-p53), resulting in absent activation of downstream effectors. This phenomenon is called "Loss Of Function" (LOF) and it is a common characteristic across all cancer-associated p53 mutants. Second, most mutant p53 (mut-p53) proteins are able to oligomerize with the wild-type protein encoded by the second allele, forming a heterotetramer unable to bind DNA (Dominant Negative effect). Finally, several mutations are able to confer truly neomorphic or "Gain Of Function" (GOF) activities to mut-p53, independent on wt-p53 and actively promoting tumor

growth. Thus, mutations in *TP53* are not equivalent to simple loss of the p53 tumor suppressor pathway, but rather can render it oncogenic.

Mut-p53 has been involved in several aspects of tumorigenesis, including proliferation and survival, chemoresistance, genomic instability, somatic cell reprogramming and stem cell characteristics, disruption of tissue architecture, angiogenesis, migration, invasion and metastasis, deregulation of cellular energy metabolism<sup>182,185</sup>.



**Figure 6. Mutations in** *TP53* **in cancer. A)** Pie chart representing the different cancer-derived mutation types reported in the IARC TP53 Mutation Database, version R19, August 2018 (http://p53.iarc.fr)<sup>181</sup>. **B)** The distribution of reported missense mutations along the 393 amino-acid sequence of p53. The domain architecture of p53 is aligned below. The six most common hotspot mutations are highlighted. Abbreviations: CTD, carboxyl-terminal domain; DBD, DNA-binding domain; OD, oligomerization domain; PR, proline-rich domain; TA, transactivation domain. (adapted from <sup>186</sup>). **C)** Schematic cartoon representing the functional impacts of *TP53* mutations, as described in the main text. Wild-type and mutant p53 monomers are represented in yellow and red, respectively. (modified from <sup>186</sup>)

#### 1.5.2.1 Mechanisms of mut-p53 gain of function

Mutant p53 drives the acquisition of many tumor phenotypes both through transcriptional and nontranscriptional processes<sup>187</sup>. Despite mutant p53 proteins are unable to recognize wt-p53 consensus on DNA, they typically retain an intact transactivation domain and have been reported to regulate gene expression. However, although mut-p53 ChIP-sequencing data are available, a mut-p53specific DNA site has not yet been characterized<sup>188</sup>, rather it has been proposed to bind in a DNAstructure selective mode<sup>189</sup>.

In the vast majority of cases, mutant p53 exerts its transcriptional activity by interaction with other transcription factors and cofactors to enhance or prevent their activities. Several factors, among which NF-Y, YAP, SREBP, ETS2, E2F1, VDR, SP1, NRF2 and PGC1a, have been reported as

transcriptional partners of mut-p53<sup>190</sup>. Some of these factors are partners of wild-type p53 and usually mediate its oncosuppressor functions, but their interaction with mut-p53 blunts or diverts them to a cancer-promoting outcome<sup>191</sup>. Among the interactors of mut-p53 there are the p53 homologs p63 and p73<sup>192,193</sup>. In that way, mut-p53 inhibits p73-dependent apoptosis and chemosensitivity<sup>194</sup> and suppresses TA-p63 anti-metastatic target genes<sup>195,196</sup>.

Mut-p53 GOF is exerted also through alterations in gene expression that involve chromatin remodeling. Indeed, mut-p53 cooperates with the SWI/SNF complex to remodel the chromatin architecture of the *VEGFR2* promoter, increasing its expression<sup>197</sup>. Interacting with ETS2, mut-p53 upregulates some epigenetic regulators (i.e. MLL1, MLL2 and MOZ), leading to a genome-wide increase of histone methylation and acetylation, that promotes cancer cell proliferation<sup>198</sup>.

In addition to the effects on the transcriptional machinery, mut-p53 can interact with other proteins to directly change their function. For example, interaction with MRE11 or Topoisomerase 1 results in enhanced genomic instability<sup>199,200</sup>.

Although less investigated, cytoplasmic activities of mut-p53 are relevant for its oncogenic potential. Mut-p53-dependent alteration of cancer cell metabolism requires direct inhibition of AMPK in the cytoplasm<sup>201</sup>. Cytoplasmic activities of mut-p53 supports tumor cells survival by suppressing autophagy and inhibiting apoptosis<sup>202–204</sup>. Recently, it has been proved that mut-p53 activates small GTPase Rac1 through SUMOylation, promoting tumor progression<sup>205</sup>. Moreover, mut-p53 binds and inhibits the tumor suppressor DAB2IP in the cytoplasm of cancer cell lines, modulating the response to multiple oncogenic extracellular signals, including TNF $\alpha^{206}$  and insulin<sup>207</sup>.

Similarly to its wild-type counterpart, mut-p53 is able to regulate miRNAs both transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally<sup>172</sup>. The transcriptional regulation is achieved mainly by activating transcription factors or by inhibiting others, such as p63. Mut-p53-regulated miRNAs are involved in different GOF activities, such as chemoresistance (miR-128 and miR-223), proliferation (miR-27a), invasion and migration (miR-155, miR-130b, miR-205 and let7i)<sup>172</sup>. Finally, mut-p53 affects the processing of miRNAs by interfering with the Drosha/Microprocessor complex<sup>208,209</sup> and by downregulating Dicer<sup>210</sup> and KSRP<sup>211</sup>.

Numerous studies have clearly established that mutant p53 protein stabilization is a major mechanism for its GOF<sup>191</sup> and can be achieved in different ways. Interestingly, mutant p53 protein levels are not uniform in all cells of a tumor, but immunohistochemical analyses have often unveiled a rather heterogeneous staining of mut-p53, being absent in some while accumulated in other cells within the same tumor, implying that, even though the mutation is present in all tumor cells, only in some of them there could be functional consequences of the missense mutation. A

25

notable recent discovery of our group demonstrated that mut-p53 stability can be controlled by mechanical cues from the extracellular environment, such as matrix stiffness, through the mevalonate/RhoA/HDAC6 molecular axis<sup>212</sup>. These results suggest that conditions of tumor fibrosis, ECM stiffening (fibrosis) and cell contractility could induce mutant p53 stabilization and stimulate its oncogenic properties.

#### 1.5.2.2 Interplay between mut-p53 and TME

The ability of cancer cells to undertake advantageous interactions with the tumor stroma and to actively create a permissive microenvironment is pivotal for cancer progression. Indeed, increasing evidence highlights the impact of mut-p53 in modulating the TME and altering the cancer cell secretome<sup>213</sup> (Figure 7). The vast majority of these reports concern the transcriptional regulation by mut-p53 of genes encoding secreted factors playing a role in the TME.



**Figure 7. Impact of mutant p53 on tumor microenvironment.** Cartoon depicting some of the effects of mut-p53 in modulating the TME, in order to promote cancer cell invasion and metastasis. (adapted from <sup>213</sup>)

Mut-p53 contributes to ECM remodeling through the transcriptional repression of TIMP- $3^{214}$ . Moreover, periostin cooperates with mut-p53 to mediate invasion by inducing STAT1 signaling in the esophageal TME<sup>215</sup>. Recently, it has been discovered that mice carrying mutant *Trp53* influence COL6A1 expression through a GOF mechanism in part dependent on TGF- $\beta$  signalling<sup>216</sup>.

The expression of the pro-angiogenetic factor VEGF-A is promoted by mut-p53. Indeed, a significant direct correlation between mut-p53 proteins and VEGF expression has been identified in

breast cancer<sup>217</sup>. In addition, mut-p53 can induce *ID4*, a member of ID family proteins involved in neoangiogenesis through post-transcriptional stabilization of the proangiogenic cytokines IL8 and CXCL1<sup>218</sup>.

Mut-p53 can impact on inflammatory microenvironment largely depending on both activation and amplification of NF- $\kappa$ B pathway upon TNF $\alpha$  stimulation and induction of *NFKB2* gene expression<sup>219–221</sup>. It has been shown that mut-p53 upregulates the secretion of CXCL5, CXCL8 and CXCL12 chemokines through the NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, thus enhancing cell migration<sup>222</sup>. Moreover, thanks to a NF- $\kappa$ B-alternative mechanism, mut-p53 supports a proinflammatory environment, through binding and activating the CXCL1 promoter in colon cancer cells<sup>223</sup> or suppressing the expression of the secreted interleukin-1 receptor antagonist (sIL-1Ra), a specific antagonist of the IL-1 pro-inflammatory cytokine<sup>224</sup>.

Mut-p53 can impinge on the crosstalk between cancer cells and the surrounding stroma. Based on *in vitro* co-culture studies, it has been proved that mut-p53 is able to protect lung carcinoma cells from the anti-tumor effect of IFN- $\beta$  secreted by CAFs<sup>225</sup>. Finally, stimulating the Warburg effect, mut-p53 favors extracellular acidification and enhances the secretion of lactate, that can act as both a metabolic and a signaling molecule<sup>226</sup>.

Recent reports have highlighted additional cell-extrinsic effects of mut-p53 in sustaining invasive cancer phenotypes. Using p63 as a chaperone to bind its target promoters, mut-p53 induces the expression of a proinvasive cluster of secreted factors<sup>227</sup>. In addition, analyzing transcriptome and secretome profiles from mut-p53-inducible non-small lung cancer cell lines, it has been demonstrated that mut-p53 modulates the extracellular environment mainly through changes in the gene expression of numerous targets that are subsequently secreted from cells<sup>228</sup>. Among these genes, *SERPINA1*, encoding for A1AT (alpha-1 antitrypsin, a secreted serine protease inhibitor), is a critical effector of mut-p53 to drive invasion and alter EMT markers expression.

Recently, a new non-cell-autonomous GOF mechanism of mut-p53 has been discovered. In colon cancer cells, mut-p53 can reprogram macrophages to M2 status by shedding miR-1246-enriched exosomes<sup>229</sup>. When such exosomes are internalized, macrophages undergo reprogramming and produce anti-inflammatory and tumor supportive factors (e.g. IL-10, TGF- $\beta$ , MMPs).

27

### 2. Preliminary data

In the laboratory in which my PhD project was developed, we focused on miRNAs, broad modulators of gene expression, as oncogenic effectors of the mut-p53 pathway in tumor cells. We chose to concentrate our studies on triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) which presents high prevalence of missense mutations in the *TP53* gene, around  $54\%^{230}$ . Of note, TNBC (lacking expression of oestrogen receptor, progesterone receptor and HER2<sup>231</sup>) is a breast cancer subtype characterized by a highly aggressive phenotype, unfavorable prognosis and absence of specific therapy.

We knocked down mut-p53 expression in a TNBC cell line harboring the p53 R280K mutation (MDA-MB-231 cells) by RNAi, and analyzed the expression levels of a panel of miRNAs previously reported to be overexpressed in solid tumors by qPCR<sup>232</sup>. This analysis highlighted miR-30d as the strongest hit positively regulated by mut-p53. miR-30d is an intergenic miRNA located in chromosome 8q24 and it has been already reported as an oncogenic miRNA. Indeed, its locus is frequently amplified in multiple types of human solid tumors<sup>233</sup>. In different contexts (e.g. hepatocellular carcinoma, melanoma, breast, ovarian and prostate cancer) miR-30d has been demonstrated to mediate several processes related to cancer development and progression, including migration, invasion, EMT, autophagy, angiogenesis and metastasis<sup>143,233–237</sup>.

We recapitulated mut-p53-dependent miR-30d expression in other TNBC cell lines endogenously expressing different p53 missense mutants, in particular MDA-MB-468 (mut-p53 R273H) and SK-BR-3 (mut-p53 R175H) (Figure 8A). Moreover, we found that endogenous wtp53 had no effect on miR30d in normal-like breast epithelial cells, whereas ectopic expression of mut-p53 variants R175H, R273H and R280K in this context upregulated miR-30d levels (Figure 8B).

Preliminary experiments have also suggested that the mut-p53/miR-30d axis exerts aggressive cancer phenotypes, such as migration, invasion, EMT and epithelial cell polarity disruption (data not shown).



**Figure 8. mut-p53 promotes miR-30d expression. A.** Bar graph showing expression of miR-30d in MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468, SK-BR-3 cells upon mut-p53 knockdown. Mut-p53 levels are shown by western blot analysis below. Cells were transfected with either p53-specific or control siRNA, and collected 48h after transfection. The RNA was extracted and q-RT-PCR was performed. (\*: p<0.05, \*\*: p<0.01; t test) **B**. Bar graph showing expression of miR-30d in MCF10A stably silenced for wt-p53 and overexpressing three different hotspot mutants (mut-p53 R175H, R273H and R280K). p53 levels following silencing of wt-p53 (shp53) and mut-p53 overexpression are shown by the western blot analysis in the lower panels. (\*\*: p<0.01, \*\*\*: p<0.001; t test)

To identify the biological processes regulated by miR-30d, we stably inhibited miR-30d expression and function by engineering MDA-MB-231 cells to stably express a miR-30d GFP-decoy vector (MDA-MB-231 dy-30d) (as described by Bonci et al.<sup>238</sup>). Transcriptomic profiles of MDA-MB-231 dy-30d and control cells were obtained through microarray technology. Genes that display a statistically significant change in expression were subjected to unbiased analysis using Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA), which highlighted a strong correlation between the presence of miR-30d and protein secretion (Figure 9A). To investigate whether miR-30d has an impact on protein secretion, we performed radioactive metabolic labeling of MDA-MB-231 dy-30d and control cells. This assay proved that depletion of endogenous miR-30d did not impinge on neosynthesis of intracellular proteins (data not shown), but significantly reduced total protein secretion, similarly to Brefeldin A (BFA), a well-known inhibitor of protein transport (Figure 9B). Given that mut-p53 regulates miR-30d expression, we asked if mut-p53 is also able to affect protein secretion. Figure 9C shows that mut-p53 knockdown is able to reduce the amount of secreted proteins by MDA-MB-231 cells. Importantly, overexpression of miR-30d in this context rescued protein secretion, without promoting comparable alterations in global expression of intracellular proteins (data not shown), thus supporting the notion that this miRNA could directly mediate the impact of mut-p53 on protein secretion. Furthermore, overexpression of miR-30d in MCF-10A cells is able to enhance total protein secretion (data not shown). All together, these data indicate the presence of an axis by which mut-p53, through miR-30d, promotes protein secretion in cancer cells.



**Figure 9. miR-30d-depedent regulation of protein secretion is a novel process regulated by mut-p53.** A. Gene set enrichment analysis of microarray data upon stable inhibition of miR-30d function in MDA-MB-231 dy-30d cells compared to control cells. GSEA enrichment plot for the cluster related to protein secretion. The control condition is indicated as class A, while the condition characterized by stable inhibition of miR-30d function is named class B. B. MDA-MB-231 dy-30d cells and control cells were labeled with [<sup>35</sup>S]Met/Cys aminoacids for 1h. Then newly synthesized proteins were chased in medium containing unlabeled Met/Cys for the indicated times. BFA was used as positive control. At each time point, the medium was collected, and secreted proteins recovered by Trichloroacetic/acetone (TCA) precipitation. Radiolabeled secreted proteins were resolved using a 12.5% SDS-PAGE gel and visualized by autoradiography. Note that dy-30d cells display a reduction on total protein secretion at both collection time points. **C.** Autoradiography of secreted proteins from MDA-MB-231 cells silenced with either p53-specific or control siRNA and transfected with miR-30d mimic. After 48h of transfection were subjected to pulse/chase experiment as previously described. Autoradiography shows a reduction in protein secretion after mut-p53 silencing, that is restored overexpressing in this context miR-30d. However, ectopically overexpression of miR-30d in MDA-MB-231 cells seems to not impinge on protein secretion. BFA was used as positive control.

To better understand the mechanisms regulated by the mut-p53/miR-30d axis and to characterize the increasingly secreted proteins, we collected conditioned medium (CM) from MDA-MB-231 control cells, mut-p53-depleted MDA-MB-231 cells, or mut-p53-depleted MDA-MB-231 cells overexpressing miR-30d, and performed mass spectrometry analysis of secreted proteins by means of LC MS/MS technology (Figure 10A). In order to reduce contaminants and/or background proteins in the proteomic analysis, all statistically significant protein hits were filtered using a previously described bioinformatic pipeline<sup>239</sup>, which considers proteins released via the classical ER-Golgi secretory pathways, through unconventional pathways (e.g. exosomal secretion) or generated by proteolytic cleavage of extracellular domains of plasma membrane proteins. This analysis identified 1039 differentially secreted proteins. Whole secretome analysis highlighted that, upon mutp53 depletion, the repertoire of proteins secreted by MDA-MB-231 cells changed significantly, with both up- and down-regulation of different hits. Of note, we found that only about 30% of the differentially secreted proteins are regulated by mut-p53 at the transcriptional and/or protein level<sup>211</sup> (data not shown), which suggests that mut-p53 may globally impact the secretion process. Restoring miR-30d levels in mut-p53 depleted cells massively recovered the observed mutp53-dependent secretome regulation (Figure 10B). These data suggest that mut-p53 reprograms the cancer cell secretome through miR-30d.



**Figure 10. Mass spectrometry analysis of secreted proteins affected by mut-p53/miR-30d axis. A.** Schematic overview of the experimental workflow used to obtain information about the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome in MDA-MB-231 cells. Conditioned medium from control, mut-p53-depleted or mut-p53-depleted with ectopically overexpressed miR-30d cells was collected after 72 hours and filtered through a 0.22 mm filter. Mass spectrometry analysis of secreted proteins through LC-MS/MS technology was performed (n=2). The predicted secreted proteins were identified through a bioinformatic pipeline previously described in Deshumukh *et al.*<sup>239</sup>, which employed the indicated bioinformatic tools. **B.** Heat map with horizontal dendrogram clustering showing log2(FoldChange) distribution of secreted proteins identified. This global secretome analysis revealed both significantly upregulated proteins (red scale) and downregulated ones (blue scale) upon mut-p53 depletion. Note that restoring miR-30d expression massively rescued the mut-p53-dependent regulation, as visible from the color shift towards the yellow scale (intermediate values).

Intriguingly, miR-30d has been reported as a miRNA secreted in both physiological<sup>240</sup> and pathological conditions, among which cardiovascular disfunctions<sup>241–244</sup>, systemic inflammatory response<sup>245</sup>, type 2 diabetes mellitus<sup>246</sup> and cancer. Indeed, higher serum levels of miR-30d have been associated with poor prognosis in lung cancer patients<sup>247,248</sup>. Moreover, circulating miR-30d has been proposed to have a diagnostic role in multiple myeloma<sup>249</sup> and a prognostic role for melanoma recurrence<sup>250</sup>. The modality of miR-30d secretion is not clear and unique. According to the existing literature and to a database of extracellular miRNAs (miRandola), secreted miR-30d has been found in exosomes or associated with proteins, both in normal and cancer contexts<sup>104,105,251</sup>. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that miR-30d can be shuttled between normal cells<sup>240,252</sup>. All these data suggest that secreted miR-30d is involved in intercellular communication and that it could represent a non-invasive biomarker.

## 3. Aim of the thesis

In established tumors, cancer cells are surrounded by a supportive and reactive environment called tumor microenvironment (TME), which includes non-transformed cells (e.g. fibroblasts, endothelial cells), and the extracellular matrix (ECM). Cancer cells modify the TME by secreting an array of heterogeneous molecules collectively called secretome, which has been shown to have both local and systemic effects. Several cancer-related pathways concur to reprogram the cancer cells' secretome, impinging on communication with the TME and thus promoting tumorigenesis. Vesicles and factors secreted by tumor cells have been demonstrated to strongly contribute to these dynamic short- and long-range interactions, however little is known about how this secretion becomes deregulated in cancer. A better understanding of the crosstalk between cancer cells and microenvironment will allow identifying novel potential therapeutic targets and non-invasive biomarkers in tumors.

In the laboratory in which I carried out my PhD project, miR-30d was identified as a novel target of mut-p53 and an effector of a novel process regulated by mut-p53 in breast cancer cells. Indeed, we have demonstrated that in cancer cells the mut-p53/miR-30d axis is able to promote total protein secretion, which was further characterized by performing mass spectrometry analysis of secreted proteins. In addition, miR-30d has been reported to be secreted from cancer cells, exerting a diagnostic or prognostic role in some cancer types<sup>247–250</sup>.

Starting from these data, I hypothesized that the mut-p53/miR-30d molecular axis could alter the TME through modulation of the secretome. Therefore in this thesis I pursued two aims:

- 1. to characterize the impact of mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome on different TME constituents and to understand how it can reshape the local microenvironment;
- 2. to verify whether miR-30d secretion by cancer cells is mut-p53-dependent and to understand what role it could exert in receiving cells.

The results of this research were expected to shed light on how mut-p53, through miR-30d induction, could reprogram the cancer secretome and to understand the impact of this process on specific compartments of the TME, favoring the identification of potential therapeutic targets and non-invasive biomarkers in mut-p53 expressing tumors.
### 4. Results

#### 4.1 Functional characterization of the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome

In order to uncover the functional significance of the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome, a Gene Ontology enrichment analysis using the Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery<sup>253,254</sup> (DAVID, https://david.ncifcrf.gov/), was performed on the secreted proteins identified in the mass spectrometry analysis (see preliminary data, Figure 10). I first focused the analysis on the GO term Biological Process, in order to gain insights in the pathways and processes affected by the secreted proteins. As shown in Figure 11A, this unbiased analysis revealed an enrichment of proteins involved in cell-ECM and cell-cell adhesion, ECM composition, proteolysis, angiogenesis and regulation of cell migration. Afterwards, I performed the GO term analysis for Cellular Components, to explore the subcellular localization of the proteins identified in the secreted proteins has been reported to be present in the extracellular exosome compartment (Figure 11B), and further confirmed the presence of proteins that are secreted in the extracellular space and that compose the ECM.



**Figure 11. Gene ontology term enrichment analysis of mut-p53/miR-30d secreted proteins.** Proteins identified in the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome were analyzed by enrichment analyses using DAVID database. The bar graph shows the top results of the analysis for the GO term Biological Process in A and the GO term Cellular Component in B. The amount of proteins found in the secretome compared to the total gene list included in DAVID clusters is indicated next to the bars.

The predicted processes emerged by the first GO term analysis indicate that proteins secreted in a mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent manner are able to modulate cancer progression, invasion and metastasis, thus suggesting a protumorigenic role of the investigated secretome. These findings prompted to deeply explore the effect of the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent cancer secretome towards various components of the tumor microenvironment, such as the ECM and stromal cells, as well as paracrine stimulation towards cancer cells within the heterogenous tumor mass. In addition, the

predicted localization suggested to analyze the contribution of mut-p53/miR-30d axis in the release of extracellular vesicles (EVs).

# 4.2 mut-p53/miR-30d axis in cancer cells alters the composition and properties of the ECM

Cancer cells are characterized by an increased ECM deposition, with the accumulation of specific components (e.g. collagens and fibronectin), and by an altered organization and remodeling.

As mentioned in the preliminary data, miR-30d inhibition in MDA-MB-231 cells reduced total protein secretion. To verify if miR-30d could impinge on secretion of ECM components, I collected conditioned medium (CM) from control and MDA-MB-231 dy-30d cells. Secreted proteins were recovered after precipitation of CM with trichloroacetic acid (TCA) and analyzed by immunoblotting. As shown in Figure 12A, miR-30d inhibition was able to reduce the secretion of some ECM components, such as Fibronectin, Laminin- $\beta$ 1 and Laminin- $\gamma$ 2, validating in part the results of the GO analysis.

Next, to test whether mut-p53 could alter secretion of ECM components through miR-30d, I performed immunoblot analysis of the above reported secreted ECM proteins recovered from MDA-MB-231 control cells, MDA-MB-231 cells silenced for mut-p53 and MDA-MB-231 cells silenced for mut-p53 (a condition in which miR-30d levels are reduced) overexpressing miR-30d precursor hairpin mimic to restore its levels. As reported in Figure 12B, mut-p53 silencing strongly inhibited the secretion of the three ECM components that however was rescued by miR-30d overexpression.



Figure 12. mut-p53/miR-30d axis alters the secretion of ECM components. A. Western blot analysis of ECM components from cellular lysates (left) or CM (right) from MDA-MB-231 control and dy-30d cells after 60 hours of starvation. HSP90 was used as loading control. GFP protein levels confirmed the functionality of miR-30d decoy vector. B. Western blot analysis of cell lysates

(left) or CM (right) from control, mut-p53-depleted or mut-p53-depleted with overexpression of miR-30d mimic MDA-MB-231 cells was collected after 60 hours of serum starvation. HSP90 was used as loading control. p53 was blotted to control the efficiency of silencing. Asterisk indicates a shift in band due to post-translational modifications in secreted Laminin- $\beta$ 1.

Alterations in ECM composition and assembly have a marked impact on the biomechanical properties of the ECM. In particular, this can cause an alteration of ECM stiffness. Therefore, I asked if the mut-p53/miR-30d axis in cancer cells could impact on increased matrix stiffness. For this aim, we employed atomic force microscopy (AFM). The basic principle of this method is to indent cells or ECM with an AFM tip, measuring the applied force from the deflection of the AFM cantilever, which will result in a quantitative measurement of the stiffness. AFM measurement highlighted that mut-p53 depletion in MDA-MB-231 cells caused a reduction in ECM stiffness compared to control cells (on average of 0.15 kPa and 0.25 kPa, respectively) (Figure 13), whereas miR-30d overexpression in mut-p53 depleted cells significantly recovered ECM stiffness.

All together these results demonstrate that the mut-p53/miR-30d axis in cancer cells impacts the secretion of single ECM components and increases ECM stiffness.





**Figure 13. mut-p53/miR-30d axis alters the stiffness of ECM.** MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded on coverslips and silenced with either control or p53-specific siRNA and transfected with miR-30d mimic. After 60 hours of serum starvation, cells were fixed in PFA and ECM was visualized using Picro Sirius Red Stain. Samples were then analysed by means of AFM to measure ECM stiffness. Box plots indicate the stiffness values. (\*\*\*: p<0.001, Kolmogorov-Smirnov test)

## 4.3 mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome contributes to angiogenesis and vascular permeability

Cancer cells secrete a plethora of proangiogenic signals into the TME, which induces an angiogenic program in recipient endothelial cells. VEGF-A is the principal secreted growth factor that regulates this process. In addition, tumors display an aberrant network of blood vessels characterized by vascular leakiness and permeability, due to the loss of cellular adhesions. Since the secretome GO

term annotation unveiled proteins involved in angiogenesis and cell-cell adhesion, I investigated the role of mut-p53/miR-30d axis in promoting angiogenesis and vascular permeability *in vitro*.

Firstly, by immunoblot analysis, I unveiled that mut-p53/miR-30d axis sustained a differential secretion of VEGF-A in MDA-MB-231 cells (Figure 14A), suggesting a role in angiogenesis for the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome. In order to verify this hypothesis, human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) were used to perform tube formation assays, thus evaluating their capacity to form capillary-like structures. As shown in Figure 14B, upon VEGF treatment HUVECs organize themselves to create tubes mimicking the generation of new vessels. Treatment of HUVECs with MDA-MB-231 control CM increased the number of closed tube loops of more than double with respect to HUVECs grown in their own medium. This angiogenic increase was impaired after treatment with CM obtained from MDA-MB-231 cells after silencing of mut-p53, but recovered using CM from cells in which miR-30d levels were restored.



Figure 14. mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome promotes neoangiogenesis in vitro. A. Conditioned medium from control, mut-p53-depleted or mut-p53-depleted plus overexpressed miR-30d MDA-MB-231 cells was collected after 60 hours of serum starvation. Cells were lysed and secreted proteins were recovered after precipitation with TCA. Western blot analysis of VEGF-A; HSP90 was used as loading control; immunoblot of p53 confirms the silencing. Asterisk indicates the presence of different isoforms in secreted VEGF-A. B. HUVECs were treated for 24 hours with CM recovered from MDA-MB-231 cells as described above. The tubes were visualized after staining with Phalloidin and counted. Recombinant VEGF was used as positive control. The bar graph indicates the number of closed tubes after each treatment. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 independent experiments. (\*: p<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01; \*\*\*: p<0.001; t test). The bottom panel shows representative pictures of Phalloidin staining in HUVEC.

Subsequently, to evaluate the properties of the vessels induced by the mut-p53/miR-30d axis, I performed an *in vitro* permeability assay by measuring the crossing of FITC-dextran through HUVEC monolayers grown on 0.4  $\mu$ m filters. Since the relative molecular mass of FITC-dextran is 70 kDa, only in the presence of a discontinuous monolayer the passage of the fluorescent probes can occur from the top to the bottom of the wells. Addition of MDA-MB-231 control CM allowed

the passage of dextran through the endothelial monolayer similarly to the effect induced by TNF $\alpha$  treatment known to induce vessel permeabilization (Figure 15). However, CM from mut-p53-depleted cells abrogated this effect, which in turn was rescued when miR-30d levels were restored in mut-p53-depleted cells. Overall, these results confirm that the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome is able to promote angiogenesis and vascular permeability in receiving endothelial cells.



Figure 15. mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome promotes vascular permeability *in vitro*. HUVEC monolayers were grown on 0.4  $\mu$ m filters. CM recovered from MDA-MB-231 cells as described in Figure 14 was added in the upper chamber for 24 hours. Then, FITC-dextran was added to the top well for 30 minutes. The permeability of treated HUVEC was determined by the appearance of FITC-dextran in the lower chamber, measuring the absorbance at 495 nm. TNF $\alpha$  treatment was used as positive control. The absorbance was compared and normalized with control condition (no treatment with CM). Values reported in the graph are the mean ± SEM of n=3 independent experiments. (\*: p<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01; t test)

#### 4.4 mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome causes activation of fibroblasts

Within the TME, CAFs (cancer-associated fibroblasts), which derive from activation of stromal fibroblasts, represent a key cellular component. Activated fibroblasts are characterized by morphological changes, acquisition of migratory capabilities, increased production of ECM components, transcriptional and metabolic reprogramming. The cancer cells' secretome can mediate fibroblasts activation, which in turn fosters growth and invasion of cancer cells. Given the protumorigenic role of the secretome under investigation, I assessed its contribution to fibroblasts activation. To this aim, two different fibroblast cell lines were employed: BJ-EHT immortalized human skin-derived fibroblasts, and WI-38 primary human lung fibroblasts.

Firstly, prompted by the cluster of secreted proteins involved in cell migration highlighted by the GO analysis, I performed wound-healing assays to test fibroblast migratory capabilities, an index of fibroblast activation. I hypothesized that inhibition of miR-30d, reducing protein secretion, was also able to regulate fibroblast activation. In fact, CM derived from MDA-MB-231 control cells led to a

2-fold increase in migratory ability of BJ cells, which was dampened using CM from MDA-MB-231 dy-30d cells, thus confirming the hypothesis (Figure 16).



Figure 16. miR-30d-dependent secretome triggers paracrine migration of fibroblasts. BJ fibroblasts were cultured until they created a monolayer. Subsequently, wound closure assay was performed in presence of CM from control or dy-30d MDA-MB-231 cells. Representative pictures were taken at the beginning of the experiment and after 16 hours of migration. Bar graph shows the quantification of wound closure area. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 independent experiments with 3 replicates. (\*: p<0.05; t test). The efficiency of miR-30d inhibition in MDA-MB-231 cells used to recover CM was checked by western blot.

Subsequently, I tested the ability of mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent CM in promoting migration of BJ and WI-38 fibroblasts in a paracrine fashion. Same experiments as above were performed using CM derived from control and MDA-MB-231 mut-p53-depleted cells: while the CM of control cells enhanced fibroblast migration, CM derived from MDA-MB-231 cells with mut-p53 knockdown caused a 25-35% reduction (Figure 17). Recovering miR-30d levels in mut-p53-depleted cells by overexpression restored the ability of CM to promote migration in both types of fibroblasts. Similar results were obtained in BJ cells exposed to CM derived from MDA-MB-468 and SK-BR-3 cells, harboring different mut-p53 variants, following mut-p53 knockdown and miR-30d rescue experiments (Figure 18). All these results strongly suggest that mut-p53 proteins, through the expression of miR-30d, can promote fibroblasts recruitment, enhancing their migration in a paracrine manner.

#### Results



**Figure 17. mut-p53/miR-30d-depedent secretome activates migration of fibroblasts.** CM was recovered from control, mut-p53-depleted or mut-p53-depleted overexpressed miR-30d MDA-MB-231 cells after 60 hours of serum starvation and added to confluent BJ and WI-38 fibroblasts to perform wound healing assay. Representative pictures were taken at the beginning of the experiment and after 16 hours of migration. Bar graph shows the quantification of wound closure area. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 (for BJ) or n=4 (for WI-38) independent experiments with 3 replicates. (\*: p<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01; t test). Silencing of p53 was checked by western blot.



Figure 18. Fibroblasts migration is influenced by a mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome from different TNBC cell lines. MDA-MB-468 (mut-p53 R273H) and SK-BR-3 (mut-p53 R175H) cells were silenced with either control or p53-specific siRNA and transfected with miR-30d mimic. After 48 hours of serum starvation, CM was recovered, added to confluent BJ cells, and wound healing assays were performed. Migration was evaluated for 16 hours. Bar graph shows the quantification of wound closure area. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 independent experiments with 3 replicates. (\*: p<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01; t test). Silencing of p53 in both cell lines was checked by western blot.

Afterwards, I functionally characterized fibroblasts' activation by performing immunoblot analysis of their activation markers. In particular, I observed a regulation of fibronectin and HIF-1 $\alpha$  in BJ cells and of  $\alpha$ -SMA, fibronectin, YAP, TAZ and HIF-1 $\alpha$  in WI-38 cells (Figure 19A). The expression of these markers was induced adding CM from MDA-MB-231 control cells, but blunted

after exposure to CM from MDA-MB-231 mut-p53-depleted cells. However, their expression was rescued adding CM after restoration of miR-30d levels in MDA-MB-231 mut-p53-depleted cells. Moreover, similar results for  $\alpha$ -SMA, fibronectin and YAP regulation were observed using CM derived from SK-BR-3 cells in a mut-p53/miR-30d-depedent manner (Figure 19B). These data suggest that mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome is able to trigger fibroblast activation affecting cytoskeleton rearrangement ( $\alpha$ -SMA), ECM production (fibronectin), transcriptional reprogramming (YAP, TAZ) and metabolic rewiring (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ).



Figure 19. mut-p53/miR-30d-depedent secretome induces expression of CAFs markers in receiving fibroblasts. A. BJ and WI-38 fibroblasts were treated for 16 hours with CM from control, mut-p53-depleted or mut-p53-depleted plus overexpressed miR-30d MDA-MB-231 cells. Then, cells were washed and lysed, and western blot analysis of the indicated proteins was performed. HIF-1 $\alpha$  blot was taken from a different gel, loaded in parallel with the same amount of lysate. HSP90 and GAPDH were used as loading control. **B.** CM was recovered from SK-BR-3 cells silenced with either control or p53-specific siRNA and transfected with miR-30d mimic. CM was added to WI-38 fibroblasts for 16 hours and then cells were lysed. Immunoblot analysis of the indicated proteins was shown. GAPDH was used as loading control.

## 4.5 The mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome promotes paracrine cancer cells migration

The GO term functional annotation suggests that the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome can exert protumorigenic effects towards both extrinsic (as described so far) and intrinsic components of the tumor mass. Indeed, cancer cells within the same tumor can influence each other in a paracrine fashion and this is believed to underlie intratumor heterogeneity, characterized by the presence of cells with distinct morphological and phenotypic features, such as motility, proliferation and metastatic potential, within the same tumor. Thus, I next asked whether the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome could influence surrounding cancer cells in a paracrine fashion. In particular, since the GO term analysis of the secretome highlighted the annotation "positive regulation of cell

migration", I assessed the potential of the mut-p53/miR-30d dependent secretome to influence cancer cell migration.

As a proof of principle, I tested the migration of p53-null lung cancer cells (H1299) exposed to different CM obtained from MDA-MB-231 cells for 48 hours in a transwelling assay. As expected, CM obtained from MDA-MB-231 control cells causes a strong increase in migration of receiving H1299 cells, whereas CM derived from MDA-MB-231 dy-30d cells displayed a significantly reduced ability to stimulate cancer cell migration (Figure 20).



**Figure 20. miR-30d-dependent secretome influences paracrine migration of cancer cells.** H1299 cells were exposed for 48 hours to CM derived from control or MDA-MB-231 dy-30d cells. Afterwards, migration was evaluated for 16 hours using a transwelling assay. Upper left: the bar graph summarizes the migrated cells per area. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 independent experiments with 2 replicates. (\*\*\*: p<0.001; \*\*\*\*: p<0.0001; t test). In the bottom panel a representative picture of migrated cells is reported. Upper right: HSP90 western blot analysis was added as a control for equal amounts of migrated cells. The efficiency of miR-30d inhibition in MDA-MB-231 cells used to recover CM was checked by western blot.

As stated in the Introduction (paragraph 1.3), the cancer secretome is not solely composed by proteins, but includes also lipids and metabolites. Since the conditioned medium recovered from MDA-MD-231 cells is heterogeneous in composition, I verified if the migration ability induced by miR-30d-dependent secretome is mainly due to secreted proteins. To this purpose, I assessed the effect of heat on the properties of the conditioned medium. In fact, boiling causes most of the proteins to be denatured without affecting heat-stable factors, such as lipids and small metabolites<sup>255–257</sup>. Figure 21 shows that after boiling, the CM lost its ability to drive migration of receiving H1299 cells, suggesting that this property mainly relies on secreted proteins.



Figure 21. Paracrine effects of the miR-30d-dependent secretome mainly rely on secreted proteins. Conditioned medium was recovered from MDA-MB-231 control or dy-30d starved cells and divided in two aliquots. One of them was boiled for 10 minutes. Next, CM was added to H1299 cells for 48 hours, and then transwell migration assay was performed for 16 hours. The bar graph summarizes the migrated cells per area. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=4 independent experiments with 2 replicates. (\*: p<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01; t test). HSP90 western blot analysis was added as a control for equal amounts of migrated cells.

Finally, I assessed also the contribution of mut-p53 and miR-30d towards paracrine stimulation of cancer cell migration. H1299 cells were exposed to their own CM or to CM from MDA-MB-231 cells for 48h: compared to H1299 CM, that of MDA-MB-231 induced a 2-fold increase of the migratory capabilities of H1299 cells (Figure 22). Conversely, exposing H1299 cells to CM from mut-p53-depleted cells dampened the induction of migration, which was rescued with CM from mut-p53-depleted cells with overexpression of miR-30d to restore its levels. Overall, these results support the notion that mut-p53, by altering tumor cells' secretome via miR-30d exert a promigratory paracrine effect on neighboring cancer cells.

#### Results



**Figure 22. mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome promotes paracrine migration of cancer cells.** H1299 cells were exposed for 48 hours to CM derived from control, mut-p53-depleted or mut-p53-depleted overexpressing the miR-30d mimic MDA-MB-231 cells. Next, migration was evaluated for 16 hours using a transwell system. The bar graph summarizes the migrated cells per area. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 independent experiments with 2 replicates. (\*: p<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01; \*\*\*: p<0.001; t test). In the bottom panel a representative picture of migrated cells is reported. HSP90 western blot analysis was added as a control for equal amounts of migrated cells. Silencing of p53 in MDA-MB-231 cells used to recover CM was checked by western blot.

### 4.6 miR-30d expression activates a pro-migratory secretome in a nontransformed context

As mentioned in the preliminary data, overexpression of miR-30d in normal-like breast epithelial MCF-10A cells is capable of promoting enhanced protein secretion. Therefore, I asked whether and how this enhanced protein secretion in a normal context is able to influence the surrounding microenvironment.

I transiently overexpressed miR-30d precursor hairpin mimic in MCF-10A cells and collected the CM. Immunoblot analysis of secreted proteins precipitated from CM revealed an increased production and secretion of fibronectin after miR-30d overexpression (Figure 23A). Next, I evaluated the effect of CM on paracrine migration of fibroblasts. As shown in Figure 23B, BJ fibroblasts receiving CM from MCF-10A control cells caused a mild change (6%) in their migratory abilities, while adding CM from MCF-10A overexpressing miR-30d led to a statistically significant increase of about 20% in their migration. Finally, I assessed also the contribution of miR-30d-dependent secretome on paracrine migration of cancer cells. After 48 h of exposure to CM, H1299 cells were subjected to a transwelling migration assay. The CM from control MCF-10A

cells caused a significant increase in migration that is further boosted after exposure to CM from MCF-10A cells overexpressing miR-30d (Figure 23C). Overall these results indicate that the increased total protein secretion caused by overexpressing miR-30d in a non-transformed context produces a secretome with a pro-migratory effect on the surrounding microenvironment.



**Figure 23. Overexpression of miR-30d in MCF-10A produces a pro-migratory secretome. A.** MCF-10A cells were transiently transfected with miR-30d precursor hairpin mimic. Then, cells were lysed and conditioned medium was collected to recover secreted proteins. Immunoblot analysis of fibronectin was shown. HSP90 was used as loading control. **B.** CM collected as previously described was added to BJ cells grown in monolayer and wound healing assays were performed. Representative pictures were taken at the beginning of the experiment and after 16 hours of migration. Bar graph shows the quantification of wound closure area; values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 independent experiments with 2 replicates. (\*: p<0.05; \*\*: p<0.01; t test). **C.** CM obtained as described above was added to H1299 cells for 48 hours. Next, migration was evaluated for 16 hours using a transwelling system. The bar graph summarizes the migrated cells per area. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=4 independent experiments with 2 replicates. (\*: p<0.01; t test). A panel of representative pictures of migrated cells is reported below.

#### 4.7 mut-p53/miR-30d axis affects the release of proteins within EVs

All the results presented so far suggest that the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome could alter the local microenvironment by altering ECM deposition and by acting on surrounding cells, both tumor and stromal, through secreted factors, thus supporting protumorigenic phenotypes. Nevertheless, it is known that the cancer secretome can impinge on TME through the release of extracellular vesicles (EVs), which can act both at the short and distant range. Thus, prompted by the GO term analysis of Cellular Component showed in Figure 11, I asked whether the mutp53/miR-30d-dependent axis affects the release of EVs from cancer cells. The most frequently used method to isolate EVs involves a series of ultracentrifugations, which requires a specific equipment not available in our laboratory. Therefore, I employed polymer-based precipitation using a commercial kit, a method that ensures a high recovery yield compared to ultracentrifugation, although at slightly lower purity<sup>258</sup>. I precipitated secreted EVs from CM of control, mut-p53-depleted or mut-p53-depleted overexpressing miR-30d MDA-MB-231 cells cultured for 60 h in serum-free medium. Firstly, I provided a molecular characterization of EVs by western blot analysis. Immunoblotting of precipitated EVs uncovered that mut-p53 silencing did not affect exosomal membrane markers, such as CD63 and CD9, but reduced the levels of well-known cargo proteins such as HSP70, HSP90,  $\beta$ -actin, and Glypican-1 (Figure 24). In this condition, miR-30d overexpression totally recovered secretion of these proteins within EVs. These data suggest that mut-p53/miR-30d axis does not impinge on the amount of secreted EVs but rather could reduce their protein cargo.



**Figure 24. mut-p53/miR-30d axis influences secretion of proteins within EVs.** Conditioned medium from control, mut-p53-depleted or mut-p53-depleted overexpressed miR-30d MDA-MB-231 cells was collected after 60 hours of serum starvation; while cells were lysed. The same amount of CM volume was precipitated through Total Exosome Isolation Reagent (Invitrogen). Precipitated EVs were lysed and, together with cell lysates, were resolved using SDS-PAGE. The indicated exosome markers were revealed by western blot. Immunoblot of GM130, a resident Golgi protein, confirms the absence of intracellular membranes contaminants in precipitated EVs. Silencing of p53 was checked by western blot. Asterisks indicate multiple bands of the indicated proteins migration at different heights due to post-translational modifications, e.g. mainly glycosylation.

Next, we characterized the physical properties of precipitated EVs employing AFM, which has been recently considered as a very powerful instrument for the detection and characterization of nanovesicles<sup>259</sup>. AFM analysis determined that all the three conditions under investigation

displayed a similar surface density, indicating a comparable total amount of secreted EVs (Figure 25A). Representative images presented in Figure 25B show the established spherical morphology of the precipitated particles. In addition, diameter measurement by AFM revealed a heterogeneous population of EVs, including vesicles in the size range of exosomes. Interestingly, observing the size frequency distribution, I noted that mut-p53-silencing causes an increased presence of EVs with smaller diameter (below 100 nm), a condition that is partly rescued in a miR-30d-dependent manner (Figure 25C). These data lead to the hypothesis that the reduced size of EVs isolated from mut-p53-depleted cells might correlate with the observed reduction of the cargo. Nevertheless, overall these results suggest an impact of mut-p53/miR-30d axis on EVs proteins cargo rather than on EVs release.



**Figure 25.** Atomic force microscopy (AFM) characterization of EVs. EVs were isolated as previously described from MDA-MB-231 cells in the indicated conditions; then were fixed in paraformaldehyde and subjected to AFM measurement as described in the Materials and methods section. **A.** AFM density (particles concentration) of EVs expressed as particles/ $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>. **B.** Representative AFM images of precipitated EVs. 5x5  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> images. Scale bar: 1  $\mu$ m. **C.** Probability size distribution of precipitated EVs. Note that in the size range below 100 nm, the red curve (EVs from mut-p53 depleted MDA-MB-231 cells) follows a different trend compared to the other two conditions.

To further demonstrate an effect of mut-p53 on the cargo of EVs, I precipitated EVs from CM of MCF-10A cells stably depleted of endogenous wtp53 and overexpressing the mut-p53 variant R175H, after 24 h of culture in serum-free medium. As reported in Figure 26, the overexpression of mut-p53 R175H did not affect the level of CD63, but increased the levels of some cargo proteins (Glypican-1, HSP90, HSP70, and  $\beta$ -actin) compared to both control cells and wt-p53-depleted cells. These data suggest that mut-p53 could promote the loading of proteins within EVs.

#### Results



**Figure 26.** Overexpression of mut-p53 R175H in MCF-10A promotes the release of proteins within EVs. MCF10A control cells, MCF-10A stably silenced for wt-p53 and MCF-10A stably silenced for wt-p53 and overexpressing the hotspot mutant p53 variant R175H were plated and serum-starved for 24 hours. CM was collected and the same amount of volume was precipitated through Total Exosome Isolation Reagent (Invitrogen). Precipitated EVs were then lysed and resolved using SDS-PAGE together with cell lysates. The indicated exosome markers were revealed by western blot. Immunoblot of GM130, a resident Golgi protein, confirms the absence of intracellular membranes contaminants in precipitated EVs. Silencing of p53 and overexpression of mutant p53 variant were checked by western blot. Asterisks indicate multiple bands of the indicated proteins migration at different heights due to post-translational modifications, e.g. mainly glycosylation.

Finally, I wanted to assess whether EVs could contribute to the observed paracrine phenotypes of mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome. To do this aim, I precipitated EVs from mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent CM of MDA-MD-231 cells as described above. Isolated EVs were then resuspended in serum-free medium and added to confluent BJ cells and wound healing assays were performed for 16 hours. Figure 27 shows that EVs isolated from MDA-MB-231 control cells were able to promote fibroblasts migration, which conversely was abrogated using EVs from MDA-MB-231 mut-p53-depleted cells. The enhanced migration was rescued adding EVs from MDA-MB-231 mut-p53-depleted cells with recovered expression of miR-30d. Thus, EVs secreted by mut-p53/miR-30d axis may contribute at least to paracrine fibroblasts migration.

#### Results



Figure 27. EVs regulated by the mut-p53/miR-30d axis are able to trigger paracrine migration of fibroblasts. MDA-MB-231 EVs were precipitated from mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent CM as described above. EVs were then resuspended in serum-free medium and added to BJ cells grown in monolayer and wound healing assay were performed. Representative pictures were taken at the beginning of the experiment and after 16 hours of migration. Bar graph shows the quantification of wound closure area; values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 independent experiments with 2 replicates. (\*: p<0.05; t test).

#### 4.8 Cancer-secreted miR-30d influences receiving cells

The previous results suggest that the mut-p53/miR-30d axis may regulate the differential loading of cargo proteins within EVs. Of note, EVs are one of the means by which miRNAs are released from cells to mediate intercellular communication. miR-30d has been reported to be released in the extracellular environment, both in exosomes and associated with proteins, and to be transferred between normal cells<sup>240,252</sup>. I therefore asked if secreted miR-30d from cancer cells can contribute to communication in TME.

Firstly, in order to potentiate the levels of secreted miR-30d to better study its function, I generated clones of MDA-MB-231 cells stably overexpressing a miR-30d construct (miRVec30d). I measured by qPCR the levels of miR-30d from these cells and their media and compared them to those derived from parental cells. Extracellular levels of miR-30d were normalized using an exogenous spike-in control (cel-miR-39)<sup>260</sup>. MDA-MB-231 miRVec30d cells presented high miR-30d intracellular expression and an increase of miR-30d release in the extracellular space (Figure 28).



Figure 28. Intracellular and extracellular levels of miR-30d in MDA-MB-231 stable clones. MDA-MB-231 control cells and miRVec30d cells were grown for 48 hours and then both cells and medium were collected. The RNA was extracted from cells and medium as described in the Materials and methods section. Extracellular levels were normalized to a standard amount of cel-miR-39 added prior to RNA extraction. Bar graphs shows the results of q-RT-PCR for miR-30d expression; values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=5 independent experiments (\*\*: p<0.01; \*\*\*: p<0.001; t test).

Subsequently, I performed co-culture experiments of either control or miR-30d overexpressing MDA-MB-231 cells with normal-like breast epithelial MCF-10A cells (as receiving cells), using a transwelling filter system. In this previously described system<sup>261</sup>, the two cell types cells shared the same medium for 16 h, being separated by a 8.0 µm porous membrane. I did not observe significant changes in the extracellular miR-30d levels of MCF-10A/MDA-MB-231 control co-culture as compared to MCF10A alone, with a slight but not significant increase in the intracellular miR-30d levels in MCF-10A (Figure 29A). As expected, in the co-culture of MCF-10A and MDA-MB-231 miRVec30d cells there was a significant enrichment of extracellular miR-30d levels compared to the previous experiment; strikingly, this was associated with a concomitant increase of intracellular miR-30d within recipient MCF-10A cells, suggesting that miR-30d secreted by tumor cells is taken up by normal-like cells.

Next, I verified whether miR-30d, after its uptake, can perform its post-transcriptional functions in receiving cells. Indeed, MCF-10A cells co-cultured with MDA-MB-231 miRVec30d cells displayed the downregulation both at mRNA and protein level of two miR-30d targets, namely DLG5 and DGKZ that we have previously identified in our laboratory (Figure 29B-C, and data not shown). Furthermore, since miR-30d promoted EMT in epithelial cells, as mentioned in the preliminary results, I investigated if the absorbed miR-30d might exert a transforming effect on normal receiving MCF-10A cells. Interestingly, upon co-culture with MDA-MB-231 miRVec30d cells, MCF-10A cells showed a reduction in the protein levels of E-cadherin and an increase in the protein level of vimentin, two classical EMT markers, compared to co-culture with MDA-MB-231

control cells (Figure 29C). This suggested that secreted miR-30d is able to exert its oncogenic function in receiving cells, for example triggering the EMT process.



Figure 29. Effect of cancer-secreted miR-30d in co-colture experiments. MDA-MB-231 control cells or stably overexpressed miR-30d were cocultured with MCF-10A using a transwelling system as schematically depicted in the cartoon in **A**. After 16 hours of coculture, the shared medium was recovered, and RNA was extracted, adding a standard amount of cel-miR-39 to allow normalization. Cells were collected and subjected to RNA or protein extraction. **A**. Bar graphs show the extracellular levels of miR-30d in the coculture medium and the intracellular miR-30d expression in the indicated coculture conditions. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=5 independent experiments (\*: p<0.05; t test). **B**. Bar graphs with the q-RT-PCR analysis of two target genes (DLG5 and DGKZ) previously identified in our laboratory as direct target of miR-30d. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 independent experiments (\*: p<0.01; t test). **C**. Western blot analysis of the protein levels of the two miR-30d target genes (DLG5 and DGKZ) and of the well-known EMT markers E-cadherin and vimentin. HSP90 was used as loading control.

#### 4.9 miR-30d as a potential biomarker of tumors expressing mut-p53

We have demonstrated that mut-p53 regulates miR-30d expression in cancer cells (see preliminary data). Since, as mentioned above, miR-30d is also secreted by cancer cells, I decided to investigate whether its secretion parallels its expression regulated by mut-p53.

I silenced mut-p53 by RNAi in MDA-MB-231 cells and then extracted total RNA both from cells and the recovered culture medium. qPCR analysis confirms the intracellular reduction of miR-30d expression after mut-p53 depletion and revealed a 35% reduction of secreted miR-30d levels in the same context (Figure 30A), indicating that mut-p53 sustains both expression of miR-30d and its secretion in the extracellular compartment. This result prompted to uncover a role of miR-30d as a

putative biomarker for mut-p53 expressing cancers. I thus analyzed miR-30d levels from sera of a cohort of 43 mice with different p53 status. In particular, the available cohort consisted of wild-type p53 mice ( $p53^{+/+}$ , n=15), homozygous mut-p53 R172H knock-in mice ( $p53^{M/M}$ , n=16) and homozygous p53 knock-out mice ( $p53^{-/-}$ , n=12). Knock-in and knock-out mice spontaneously develop lymphomas and sarcomas, with a median latency of 8-9 months<sup>196,262</sup>. We sacrificed  $p53^{M/M}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  mice when tumor growth occurred together with age- and sex matched wild-type controls ( $p53^{+/+}$ ) and collected their total peripheral blood. After sera purification, RNA was extracted adding exogenous cel-miR-39 to allow normalization of circulating miRNAs. Figure 30B shows the results of qPCR analysis for miR-30d from the sera of the mice cohorts. I unveiled that mice harboring p53 mutation and developing cancer presented a significant increase of miR-30d levels in the sera compared to healthy mice. Conversely p53 knock-out mice, even if they had developed a tumor, did not display significant changes in miR-30d sera levels compared to control mice. Thus, miR-30d levels in the blood correlated with p53 status, supporting its role as possible cancer biomarker for tumors with p53 GOF mutations.



Figure 30. miR-30d secretion depends on mut-p53 *in vitro* and *in vivo*. A. MDA-MB-231 cells were silenced with either control or p53 specific siRNA. After 48 hours, both cells and medium were collected and RNA was extracted, adding a standard amount of celmiR-39 to allow normalization. Bar graph shows the results of q-RT-PCR analysis for miR-30d expression. Values are mean  $\pm$  SEM from n=3 independent experiments (\*: p<0.05; t test). B. Schematic overview of the in *vivo* experimental workflow. The mice cohort consists of n=15 wild-type p53 mice (*p53*<sup>+/+</sup>), n=16 homozygous mut-p53 R172H knock-in mice (*p53*<sup>-/-</sup>). When tumor occurred, *p53*<sup>-/-</sup> mice were sacrificed together with matched control *p53*<sup>+/+</sup> mice and sera purified from peripheral blood. Then, RNA was extracted from the same amount of clarified sera (200 µl), adding a standard amount of cel-miR-39 to allow normalization. Box plot shows the levels of miR-30d relative to cel-miR-39 presented as  $-\Delta$ ct. Mann Whitney test was used for statistical analysis (\*\*: p<0.01)

### 5. Discussion

During tumor progression, cancer cells communicate with each other and the surrounding tissue to shape a permissive tumor microenvironment. The main mechanism of paracrine communication includes the secretion by cancer cells of soluble and insoluble factors, such as proteins, metabolites, extracellular vesicles (EVs), and also circulating nucleic acids, among which miRNAs<sup>43,70,95</sup>. Overall, these components constitute the cancer secretome, which can be finely reprogrammed by cancer cells to sustain tumor growth and progression. Thus, a growing interest is addressed to the study of the mechanisms by which cancer cells are able to reprogram their secretome and consequently alter the TME. Indeed, a better knowledge of these mechanisms will be instrumental to provide the basis for new effective therapeutic interventions against tumors, as well as for novel potential biomarkers for clinical use.

Preliminary data, produced by the laboratory where this PhD project has been developed, proved that the mut-p53/miR-30d axis promotes total protein secretion in breast cancer cells, highlighting a novel biochemical process instigated by mut-p53. This aberrant secretion was further characterized by means of mass spectrometry, unveiling that the mut-p53/miR-30d axis can modulate the cancer cell secretome and thus suggesting an impact of the axis on TME.

The work presented in this thesis pointed out that mut-p53, through the regulation of miR-30d expression, is able to alter the tumor microenvironment with a dual mechanism: on one hand, by promoting total protein secretion, which results in a secretome with protumorigenic effects on different components of the TME, and, on the other hand, by sustaining secretion of miR-30d itself, that exerts oncogenic functions in receiving cells.

miR-30d belongs to the miR-30 family, which in humans consists of five members (miR-30a, -30b, -30c, -30d and -30e), which share a common seed sequence, but present different compensatory sequences that allow them to target different genes. In cancer, miR-30 family members were described as both tumor suppressor and oncogenic miRNAs, and these differential behaviors may be due to the different targeting ends or different tumor contexts<sup>263</sup>. Nevertheless, an oncogenic role for miR-30d was reported in a wide range of tumors<sup>143,233–237</sup>.

The role of miR-30d in influencing TME is still elusive. In 2011 Gaziel-Sovran *et al.* have demonstrated that miR-30d, in cluster with miR-30b, targets and downregulates the GalNAc transferase GALNT7 in human melanoma, thus indirectly promoting the secretion of the immunosuppressive IL-10<sup>143</sup>. Strikingly, secretion of miR-30d has been reported for both normal

and cancer cells, exerting a role in intercellular communication between normal cells<sup>240,252</sup> and as putative diagnostic or prognostic biomarker for some human tumors<sup>247–250</sup>.

Several studies have underlined cell-extrinsic effects for mut-p53 in modulating the interplay with TME<sup>213</sup>. This is achieved mainly through transcriptional regulation of genes that encode secreted proteins<sup>228</sup>. Recently, it has been reported that mut-p53 can reprogram macrophages towards a tumor supportive and anti-inflammatory state through the secretion of miR-1246 within exosomes<sup>229</sup>. Interestingly, our preliminary data demonstrated that the mut-p53/miR-30d axis fosters total protein secretion by cancer cells. Furthermore, comparing the results of the mut-p53-dependent secretome in MDA-MB-231 cells to our previously published data on mut-p53-regulated transcriptomic and proteomic profile in the same cell line<sup>211</sup>, we unveiled that about the 70% of differentially secreted proteins did not appear to be affected by mut-p53 neither at the mRNA nor at the protein level. This result indicates that the effect of mut-p53 on secretome is mainly a consequence of a global impact on the process of secretion.

Interestingly, GSEA analysis of the transcriptomic profile regulated by miR-30d indicated protein secretion as a process strongly affected by miR-30d, impacting on the expression of key factors of ER-Golgi vesicular trafficking. Moreover, identifying the miR-30d targets is mandatory to understand how the deregulated expression of this miRNA subvert the secretory pathway. Of note, preliminary data produced in the laboratory identified DGKZ as mut-p53/miR-30d target gene. DGKZ is an enzyme that acts as a negative regulator of diacylglycerol in membrane, affecting membrane trafficking and exocytosis<sup>264,265</sup>. It would be interesting to investigate if the mut-p53/miR-30d axis enhances protein secretion by downregulating DGKZ.

In this thesis, I provided evidence that the enhanced protein secretion prompted by the mutp53/miR-30d axis alters the TME *in vitro* by producing a protumorigenic secretome.

First, I dissected the effects of the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome on TME constituents, such as ECM, stromal cells (endothelial cells and fibroblasts) as well as other cancer cells. I unveiled that in cancer cells the mut-p53/miR-30d axis promotes the secretion of some ECM components and increases the matrix stiffness. This result is interesting considering that increased ECM stiffness can in turn influence the behavior of cancer cells, for instance by activating mechanotransduction pathways which trigger cytoskeleton reorganization and regulate the levels and activity of mechanosensitive transcription factors to drive wide gene expression programs<sup>13</sup>. Among these are YAP/TAZ transcription cofactors, which play essential roles in organ growth and tissue homeostasis<sup>266</sup>. Consistently, YAP/TAZ are aberrantly activated in many human tumors, where they have been shown to be essential for cancer progression, metastasis and

53

chemoresistance<sup>156</sup>. YAP/TAZ are mechanosensors, regulated by ECM stiffness, cell shape and cytoskeletal tension, and also mechanotransducers, integrating mechanical cues with cell-specific transcriptional programs<sup>267</sup>. For instance, cells cultured on stiff ECM displayed increased nuclear localization and consequently transcriptional function of YAP/TAZ<sup>23</sup>. In addition, very recently our group has demonstrated that mechanical cues from ECM are able to control mut-p53 stability and thus its function through a mevalonate/RhoA/HDAC6 axis<sup>212</sup>. Thus the results provided in this thesis suggest the existence of a pro-tumorigenic feedback-loop: mut-p53 promotes ECM stiffness, which in turn sustains its own stability and GOF activity, along with YAP/TAZ oncogenic function. Furthermore, increased ECM stiffness in cancer cells could influence non-transformed cells in TME, in particular promoting CAFs migration and contractility, endothelial cells function and angiogenesis, TAMs migration, as well as T cells activation and maturation<sup>117</sup>. The mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome induces the formation of new vessels, with a concomitant increase of vascular permeability. These results corroborate the results of a previous report by Fontemaggi et al.<sup>218</sup>, where an angiogenic potential of mut-p53 was reported, and my data add on to this evidence, showing that mut-p53 contributes also to vascular leakiness. This latter aspect might be relevant considering that leaky vessels in tumors can lead to hypoxia, facilitate immune cells infiltration, metastatic spreading and impair chemotherapy delivery<sup>268</sup>. Interestingly, I first provided evidence about the ability of mut-p53/miR-30d axis to induce paracrine activation of fibroblasts. In fact, conditioned media from mut-p53/miR-30d axis derived from TNBC cells harboring different mutp53 variants were able to confer CAF-like features to normal fibroblasts. In particular, I observed enhanced migration and induction of some markers of activation (e.g. fibronectin,  $\alpha$ -SMA, YAP/TAZ, HIF-1a). The induction of YAP/TAZ might promote ECM remodeling and stiffness, as described by Calvo *et al.*<sup>22</sup>, whereas HIF-1 $\alpha$  induction and stabilization under normoxic conditions suggested that activated fibroblasts may undergo metabolic reprogramming<sup>26</sup>. Recruitment and activation of fibroblasts by cancer cells is extremely important for cancer development and dissemination<sup>18</sup>. Indeed, CAFs in turn influence proliferation, invasion and survival of cancer cells. Furthermore, CAFs exert a strong and broad influence on TME, promoting ECM deposition and remodeling, angiogenesis, metabolic and immune reprogramming. Beyond the aforementioned protumorigenic effects on stromal components, the mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome can also influence other malignant cells to gain aggressive features, such as enhanced migration, contributing to cancer heterogeneity.

Notably, I demonstrated a critical role for miR-30d expression in a non-transformed context. Indeed, our preliminary data unveiled that overexpression of miR-30d in normal breast immortalized MCF-10A cells was able to sustain total protein secretion. In this thesis I proved that

this enhanced protein secretion in a non-tumor context was able to produce a secretome with promigratory effects in the surrounding environment. Importantly, it has been demonstrated that under hypoxic conditions HIF transcription family factors induce miR-30d levels in the breast MCF-7<sup>269</sup>. Since hypoxia is a cell line master regulator of secretome cancer reprogramming<sup>122,125,270</sup>, it would be interesting to understand whether miR-30d could mediate the impact of the hypoxic response in TME. It has been reported that tumors bearing TP53 mutations are generally characterized by higher levels of hypoxia<sup>271</sup>: mut-p53 appears to stimulate HIF-1a stabilization in hypoxic conditions, consistently with its reported ability to repress the ability of TAp63 to mediate Sharp-1-dependent HIF degradation, resulting in enhanced metastatic potential<sup>272</sup>. Thus, it would be interesting to characterize a possible interplay between mutant p53 and HIFs in regulation of miR-30d expression and its downstream phenotypes.

Subsequently, given that the GO enrichment analysis of the secretome highlighted a role of secreted EVs, I assessed the contribution of the mut-p53-miR-30d axis in the secretion of EVs. I found that mut-p53/miR-30d axis did not impinge on the amount of secreted EVs, but can affect the release of proteins within EVs, accordingly to its role in regulating total protein secretion by cancer cells. The role of mut-p53 in exosome secretion is still controversial. A recent report showed that dysfunction in *TP53* (knock-out or presence of a mutant p53 variant) led to a reduced size of exosomes compared to wildtype cells in the colorectal cancer cell line HCT116<sup>179</sup>. However, this result can be tumor-context specific and also mut-p53 variant specific (R273H).

The mut-p53/miR-30d axis, through a differential loading of proteins within EVs, may modulate its interactions with TME, exerting both local and systemic effects. Indeed, EVs have been reported to promote both primary tumor growth and "education" of a supportive pre-metastatic niche (PMN)<sup>69,70</sup>. Specifically, EVs released by primary tumor may alter specific distant tissue sites favoring the colonization and outgrowth of disseminated cancer cells. Proteins loaded within EVs lumina and surface can modulate their effect in receiving cells<sup>72</sup>. For instance, in a subset of breast cancer cell lines a different pattern of surface integrins perturbs organotropism of EVs conferring tissue-specificity to colonization sites<sup>90</sup>. Moreover, once docked to recipient cells, EVs can deliver their cargo, activating various responses and processes inside cells. Thus, regulating protein cargo within EVs, the mut-p53/miR-30d axis could strongly regulate its impact on TME.

Further experiments are required to demonstrate the contribution of mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent secretome *in vivo*, for instance through systemic administration of conditioned medium or EVs regulated by this axis in nude mice to evaluate its ability to foster PMN formation and/or metastasis. Moreover, it would be interesting to deeply investigate the molecular mediators, either free or carried by EVs, that are responsible for conditioning both local and distal microenvironment.

Among the molecules secreted by cancer cells, an interesting role is played by secreted miRNAs, which can be internalized by cells of the surrounding microenvironment, carrying out their multiple effects. Moreover, cancer-secreted miRNAs acquired great importance also for their putative role as non-invasive cancer biomarkers<sup>95</sup>. In fact, they have been found released in the blood and other biological fluids, and they can correlate with tumor onset, evolution and response to treatment.

In this thesis, I showed that miR-30d secreted by cancer cells can be taken up by receiving nontransformed cells, where it can downregulate its target genes and trigger an EMT process, according to its proposed oncogenic role. These results sustain the role of miR-30d in mediating intercellular communication, as previously reported in non-tumor contexts<sup>240,252</sup>. However, my results suggest the possibility that in a tumor context miR-30d, secreted by cancer cells, can mediate its oncogenic effects in a paracrine way, promoting the transformation of normal cells.

Moreover, I demonstrated that miR-30d secretion is mut-p53-dependent both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Strikingly, in this latter context I proved that miR-30d secretion in the sera of mice was associated with tumors bearing mutation in *Trp53*. This result leads us to consider miR-30d as a candidate biomarker associated with p53 status in tumors. A diagnostic or prognostic role for secreted miR-30d has been already reported in patients with lung cancer<sup>247,248</sup>, melanoma<sup>250</sup> and multiple myeloma<sup>249</sup>, but this is the first evidence of its associated with p53 mutations. To date, only higher levels of miR-1246 in exosomes have been associated with colorectal cancer patients carrying mut-p53<sup>229</sup>.

The mut-p53/miR-30d-dependent regulation of secretome unveiled in this thesis can allow the identification of non-invasive biomarkers and potential therapeutic targets associated with mutations in *TP53* gene in cancer.

Indeed, secreted molecules, including proteins and miRNAs, can represent promising cancer biomarkers, that could be associated with mut-p53 presence. To date, only two reports attribute a role for mut-p53 in regulating putative secreted biomarkers. The first evidence regards the increased expression and secretion of prostate-specific antigen (PSA) by prostate cancer cells *in vivo* and *in vitro*<sup>273</sup>; the second one is the abovementioned exosomal miR-1246 levels increased in the plasma of colorectal cancer patients<sup>229</sup>. The demonstration of the *in vivo* association of increased sera levels of miR-30d in tumors harboring p53 mutations can be added to the list of possible mut-p53-dependent secreted biomarkers. The discovery of additional mut-p53-related secreted biomarkers may provide new tools for diagnostic and prognostic evaluation, as well as new effective therapeutic strategies for cancer patients harboring mutations in *TP53*.

Targeting the secreted mediators of the communication between cancer cells and the surrounding TME is considered a promising strategy to counteract tumor progression. Indeed, secreted factors can be expected to be more susceptible to inhibition than the paracrine or juxtacrine signaling mediators that act within solid tumors<sup>46</sup>. Examples from available literature include the use of neutralizing antibodies against specific secreted molecules such as LOX<sup>128</sup> or angiogenesis inhibitors<sup>28</sup>. Recently, our group has demonstrated that administration of statin or zoledronic acid, two inhibitors of the mevalonate pathway, was able to reduce stroma-tumor mechanosignaling and mut-p53 destabilization in cancer cells<sup>212</sup>. Starting from our mass spectrometry data, I can expect to identify a subset of secreted proteins able to mediate the protumorigenic effects on the TME and then pursue their inhibition through antibodies or small molecule inhibitors.

In sum, since I demonstrated that miR-30d in cancer cells is a critical mediator of TME alteration, both promoting a protumorigenic secretome, and mediating intercellular communication as secreted miRNA, I believe that its inhibition may represent a promising anticancer therapeutic strategy. In fact, several systems for miRNA inhibition exist that are able to target *in vitro* and *in vivo* both intracellular and extracellular miRNAs<sup>115,238,274</sup>, and it would be intriguing to testing them in the near future.

## 6. Materials and methods

#### **Cell cultures**

#### Cell lines

MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468, SK-BR-3 and BJ cells (immortalized and engineered as previously described in Voorhoeve and Agami<sup>275</sup>) were cultured in DMEM medium (Lonza) supplemented with 10% FBS (EuroClone) and Penicillin-Streptomycin Mixtures (100 IU/mL, Lonza). H1299 cells were cultured in RPMI medium (Lonza) supplemented with 10% FBS and antibiotics. WI-38 cells were cultured in EMEM medium (Lonza) supplemented with 10% FBS, Penicillin-Streptomycin Mixtures (100 IU/mL, Lonza) and 1% non essential aminoacids (Lonza); these cells were used within the 38<sup>th</sup> passage of culture to avoid senescence. MCF-10A cells have been maintained in culture in a medium made by DMEM and Ham's F12 (Lonza) mixed in a ratio 1:1, and supplemented with 5% horse serum (LifeTechnologies), Penicillin-Streptomycin Mixtures (100 IU/mL, Sigma-Aldrich), hydrocortisone (0.5  $\mu$ g/mL, Sigma-Aldrich) and epidermal growth factor (EGF, 20  $\mu$ g/mL, Peprotech).

HUVECs (Human umbilical vein endothelial cells) were kindly provided by Dr. Chiara Agostinis (IRCCS "Burlo Garofolo", Trieste) and isolated as previously described<sup>276</sup>. The cells were seeded in plates precoated with fibronectin (Roche) and maintained in endothelial serum-free basal medium (Life Technologies) supplemented with 20 ng/ml bFGF (basic Fibroblast Growth Factor), 10ng/ml EGF (Epidermal Growth Factor) (Life Technologies) and 10% of FBS (EuroClone). All the experiments with HUVECs were carried out within the fourth passage of cell culture.

All cells were maintained in an incubator set at 37°C and 5% pCO2.

#### Stably transduced cell lines

MDA-MB-231 cells with stable inhibition of miR-30d were obtained by lentiviral transduction with TWEEN 3'UTR EGFP empty, that was used as a negative control, and with the miR-30d decoy construct. The TWEEN 3'UTR EGFP empty was kindly provided by R. De Maria, and the miR-30d decoy was cloned as described by Bonci et al.<sup>238</sup>.

MCF-10A cells silenced for endogenous wtp53, overexpressing the mut-p53 variant R175H were obtained by retroviral transduction with pRS-shp53, kindly provided by R. Agami, and pMSCV-p53 R175H vector. This latter vector was obtained by cloning p53 R175H coding region into a pMSCV empty vector, after having introduced silent mutations in the region targeted by p53 siRNA by site-directed mutagenesis in pLPC p53 R175H.

MDA-MB-231 cells overexpressing miR-30d were obtained by retroviral transduction with pRS-Blast and miR-Vec-30d, kindly provided by R. Agami.

Infected cell populations were selected using puromycin (Sigma-Aldrich) and/or blasticidin (InvivoGen), 2µg/mL each, for at least one week.

#### Transfection

For siRNA and miRNA transfections, cells were plated 24 hours before the transfection experiment. Lipofectamine RNAiMax (Invitrogen) was used to transfect 40 nM siRNAs or 3 nM miRNAs following the manufacturer's instructions, using a control siRNA at the same molar concentration as a control.

siRNA/miRNA	Sequence	Manufacturer	
Control siRNA	Unknown	All Star Negative Control	
		(1027281,Qiagen)	
sip53 ORF	GACUCCAGUGGUAAUCUAC	Eurofins MWG	
miR-30d	UGUAAACAUCCCCGACUGGAAG	Pre-miR <sup>™</sup> miRNA Precursors	
mature miRNA		hsa-miR-30d (PM10756, Ambion)	
miR-Negative	Unknown	Pre-miR <sup>TM</sup> miRNA Precursor	
Control		Negative Control #1 (AM17110, Ambion)	

siRNAs and miRNAs used in this thesis are listed in the table below:

#### **Conditioned medium**

After 6 hours from transfection or 24 hours from seeding, cells were washed twice with PBS and replaced with fresh serum free medium (supplemented with antibiotics). After a certain time interval (24 hours for MCF-10A cells, 48 hours for MDA-MB-46 and SK-BR-3 cells, 60 hours for MDA-MB-231 cells), the conditioned medium (CM) was collected, filtered through a 0.22  $\mu$ m syringe filter (EuroClone) and centrifuged 2,000 xg for 5 min to remove cells and debris. Cell-free CM was transferred to a new tube for subsequent use. CM was used usually immediately or kept a 4°C for up to 2 days or aliquots were stored at -80°C for up to 1 week.

#### Extracellular vesicles (EVs) isolation

EVs were collected from equivalent amounts of conditioned medium using Total Exosome Isolation reagent from cell culture media (4478359, Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer protocol. Briefly, 0.5 volumes of the reagent were added to CM; then the mixture was mixed well by vortex and the samples were incubated at 4°C overnight. After, samples were centrifuged at 10,000 xg for

1 hour at 4°C. The supernatant was carefully removed and the pellet was proper used according to the subsequent procedures.

#### Protein expression analysis

#### Protein extraction

Total cell extracts were lysed with Lysis Buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7,5, 300 mM NaCl, 1% NP40, 1 mM EDTA) supplemented with 1 mM PMSF, 5 mM NaF, 1 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, 10 μg/ml CLAP. Cells were then centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. Protein concentration was determined with Bio-Rad Protein Assay Reagent (#500-0006, Bio-Rad). Samples obtained were denatured in Laemmli Sample Buffer 2X or 6X.

For the recovery of secreted proteins, 1 ml of CM was precipitated by addition of 100% Trichloroacetic acid (TCA) (Sigma) to a final concentration of 10% and incubation at 4°C overnight. The following day, the samples were centrifuged at 13,200 rpm for 15 min at 4°C. Pellets were resuspended in 0.4 ml 100% chilled acetone by vortexing, and protein precipitates were recovered by centrifugation at 13,200 rpm for 10 min at 4°C and air-dried at room temperature for approximately 30 min. Finally, pellets are dissolved in Laemmli Sample Buffer 2x.

EVs pellets were resuspended in lysis buffer supplemented with with protease and phosphatases inhibitors, and then denatured in Laemmli Sample Buffer 6X.

All the samples were denatured by heating at 95°C for 5 min.

#### Western blot

Lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham). Blocking was performed in Blotto-tween (PBS, 0.2% Tween-20, not fat dry milk 5%) or with TBST-milk (0.2% Tween-20, Tris/HCl 25mM pH 7.5, plus 5% not fat dry milk) depending on the antibody. Anti-mouse and anti-rabbit HRPO-conjugated (Sigma) were used as secondary antibodies. Membranes were analyzed by chemiluminescence using ECL<sup>TM</sup> Western Blotting Reagents (Amersham) or LiteAblot Extend Long Lasting Chemiluminescent Substrate (EuroClone). The following primary antibody were used.

Target	Antibody
β-actin	a9718 (Sigma-Aldrich)
α-SMA	ab5694 (Abcam)
CD63 (H-193)	sc-15363 (Santa Cruz)
CD9 (C-4)	sc-13118 (Santa Cruz)
DGKZ	HPA051336 (Sigma-Aldrich)

DLG5	HPA000555 (Sigma-Aldrich)	
E-cadherin	610182 (BD)	
Fibronectin (N1N2)	GTX112794 (GeneTex)	
GAPDH (6C5)	sc-32233 (Santa Cruz)	
GFP	Home-made produced rabbit polyclonal	
Glypican-1 (N3C3)	GTX104557 (GeneTex)	
GM130	610822 (BD)	
HIF-1a (D2U3T)	#14179 (Cell Signaling)	
HSP70 (C92F3A-5)	sc-66048 (Santa Cruz)	
HSP90 (HSP90 α/β, F-8)	sc-13119 (Santa Cruz)	
Laminin 5 ( $\gamma_2$ chain)	MAB19562 (Millipore)	
Laminin-B1	ab69633 (Abcam)	
p53 (DO-1)	sc-129 (Santa Cruz)	
VEGF	GTX102643 (GeneTex)	
Vimentin (V9)	ab8069 (Abcam)	
WWTR1 (TAZ)	HPA007415 (Sigma-Aldrich)	
YAP (63.7)	sc-101199 (Santa Cruz)	

#### Atomic force microscopy (AFM) analysis

AFM was used to asses ECM mechanical properties and investigate extracellular vesicles (EVs) dimensions and distribution.

#### Stiffness measurement

Elastic assessment of ECM stiffness was performed as previously described<sup>212</sup>. MDA-MB-231 cells were seeded on coverslips and transfected as described above. Cells were washed with 1X PBS and fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min. Nuclei were marked via haematoxylin staining, while ECM was visualized using the collagen- and amyloid-specific dye Picro Sirius Red Stain (Abcam, ab 150681). AFM imaging was performed at room temperature on a Smena AFM (NT-MDT Co., Russia) mounted on an inverted fluorescence microscope (Nikon Eclipse Ti-U). For each sample, 60 randomly chosen areas were measured and analysed. The cantilever used was a tip-less probe characterized by a spring constant of about 0.03 nN·nm<sup>-1</sup> (HQ:CSC38 cantilevers from MikroMasch Co), at the end of which a 18  $\mu$ m diameter silica bead (Thermo Fisher Scientific) was glued using UV curable glue (Norland Products Inc.). Force spectroscopy measurements were performed at constant speed (2.5  $\mu$ m·s<sup>-1</sup>) and triggered to a maximum force applied to the sample of 5 nN. Elastic modulus values, in kPa, were determined by fitting obtained force/displacement

curves with a Hertzian model for the tip used taking advantage of the NOVA (NT-MDT Co., Russia) control and analysis software. Statistics and data processing were performed using Igor Pro software (www.wavemetrics.com) and R statistical computing software (www.R-project.org). The significance of the differences in the data was established as equality of probability distributions via the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test.

#### Characterization of EVs

Precipitated EVs were resuspended and fixed in 30  $\mu$ L of 4% paraformaldehyde for 20 min, and then diluted to 100  $\mu$ L in H<sub>2</sub>0. EVs were subsequently suspended in a 1.0% solution of osmium tetroxide in 0.1 M Na-Cacodylate buffer, pH 7.4. After being rinsed with 0.1 M Na-Cacodylate buffer alone samples were carefully washed with mQ water and processed following the procedure described in Junker *et al.*<sup>277</sup> and Rauti *et al.*<sup>278</sup>. Briefly, a 15  $\mu$ L drop of sample solution was placed and left to adsorb (15 min) onto a freshly peeled mica substrate, thereafter rinsed with mQ water. EVs were then dried under a gentle stream of nitrogen. AFM was used in semicontact mode at RT in air using a commercial instrument (Solver Pro, NTMDT, RU). Silicon tips (NSC36/CR-AU, MikroMash, USA) with a typical force constant of 0.6 nN/nm and a resonance frequency of about 65 kHz were employed. Topographic height and phase images were recorded at 512 × 512 pixels at a scan rate of 0.5 Hz. Image processing was performed using Gwyddion freeware AFM analysis software, version 2.40.66. For statistical analysis, 10 5x5  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup> fields were acquired for each sample and EVs' dimensions and densities were evaluated. In particular, the height of each vesicle was evaluated from cross-line profiles associated to an average diameter.

#### **Tube formation assay**

Tube formation assay was performed as previously described<sup>276</sup>. HUVECs were placed on wells coated with Matrigel (Becton Dickinson) and incubated for 24 hours with VEGF (20 ng/mL) or CM from different conditions to allow tube formation. After fixation with 4% paraformaldehyde and staining with Phalloidin-Alexa Fluor 488 (Invitrogen), the number of tubules was counted under a Leica AF6500 microscope using LAS software (Leica).

#### Permeability assay

HUVECs were seeded onto fibronectin-coated transwell inserts (0.4  $\mu$ m pore size; Corning). When cells are confluent, they were pre-treated for 24 hours with CM from different conditions, or for 30 minutes with TNF $\alpha$  (100 ng/ml, Invitrogen). FITC-dextran (1 mg/ml, 70 kDa, Sigma) was added to monolayer (upper chamber) for 30 minutes. The presence of FITC-dextran in the lower chamber

was assayed at 495 nm by using Enspire multimode plate reader (PerkinElmer). Fluorescence intensity measurements were expressed as relative permeability by calculating the fold increase over the basal permeability of untreated monolayer (control).

#### Wound healing assay

Equal numbers of BJ-EHT or WI-38 cells were grown in 6-well or 12-well plates until they reached confluence. Then, cells were scraped with a pipette tip and, after washing with PBS, were incubated with CM from different conditions or serum-free medium alone as a control. For each experimental point, two or three scratch were performed, and one image of the wounding area were acquired immediately after scratching and then in the same field after 16 hours of migration. The relative wound closure was quantified by measuring the wound area at the time of scratching and the end point of the experiment using ImageJ (NIH Image).

For the experiments performed with WI-38, CM or control medium (DMEM) was diluted 1:1 in the basal medium for culture of WI-38 cells. Instead, EVs pellets were resuspended in 1 ml of serum-free DMEM before using them for wound healing assay.

#### **Migration assay**

H1299 cells were grown in 6-well in the presence of CM (supplemented with 10% FBS) for 48-72 h. Then  $5x10^4$  cells were seeded in 24 well PET inserts (8.0 µm pore size, Falcon) in the presence of CM (supplemented with 1% FBS) in both compartments. After 16 hours, cells on the upper part of the membrane were removed with a cotton swab and cells that passed through the filter were fixed in 4% PFA, stained with 0.05% crystal violet and counted.

For the migration assay performed with boiled conditioned medium, CM was first heat-inactivated at 100°C for 10 min as previously described<sup>257</sup>, and then used according to the procedure above described.

#### **Co-culture experiments**

 $2x10^5$  MCF-10A cells were seeded in 24-well plates suitable for transwell insert (Falcon), and allowed to adhere for 4 hours. Then,  $2x10^5$  MDA-MB-231 control or miRVec30d cells were seeded in 24 well PET inserts (8.0 µm pore size, Falcon) placed above the wells with MCF-10A. All the cells were seeded in the same medium, that is the complete basal medium for culture of MCF-10A cells. After 16 hours, the inserts were removed, and the medium and cells collected for the subsequent analysis.

#### **Collection of sera from mice**

The mice cohort was generated, monitored and genotyped as previously described<sup>196</sup>. All experimental protocols were approved by the Animal Ethics Committee of the University of Trieste. When tumor occurred,  $p53^{M/M}$  and  $p53^{-/-}$  mice were sacrificed together with age- and sex matched wild-type controls ( $p53^{+/+}$ ). Total peripheral blood was collected and immediately processed to recover the sera. After an overnight incubation at 4°C to allow coagulation, serum is recovered after two subsequent centrifugations at 4,000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C. The sera thus collected were stored at -80°C until their use.

#### **RNA extraction and RT-qPCR**

Total RNA was extracted with QIAzol (Qiagen) following manufacturer's instructions. For analysis of miRNA expression in culture medium and mice sera, cel-39 miRNA mimic (0.1 nM) was previously added to QIAzol. 1 ml of culture medium or 200  $\mu$ l or mice sera were diluted 1:5 in QIAzol according to manufacturer's instruction. For RNA extraction from mice sera, RNeasy MinElute Cleanup Kit (Qiagen) was used.

For microRNAs expression analysis, 1µg of cellular RNA or 20µl of RNA extracted from culture medium/mice sera was retro-transcribed with miScript PCR System (Qiagen). miR-30d and the control housekeeping U6B and SNORD25 small nuclear RNAs were amplified with miScript SYBR Green PCR kits (Qiagen), following manufacturer's instructions on a CFX96<sup>™</sup> Real-Time PCR System (Biorad).

For mRNA expression analysis, 1µg of total RNA was reverse-transcribed with QuantiTect Reverse Transcription (Qiagen). Analyzed genes were amplified using SsoAdvanced<sup>TM</sup>SYBR® Green Master Mix (Biorad) on a CFX96<sup>TM</sup> Real-Time PCR System (Biorad).

List of primers used:

miScript Primer Assay Name	<b>Official Symbol</b>	Catalog Number
Hs_SNORD25_11	SNORD25	MS00014007 (Qiagen)
Hs_RNU6B_13	RNU6B	MS00014000 (Qiagen)
Hs_miR-30d_2	MIR30D	MS00009387 (Qiagen)
Cel_miR-39_1	MIR39	MS00019789 (Qiagen)

Target	Sequence
ЦЗ	Fw: 5'-GAAGAAACCTCATCGTTACAGGCCTGGT-3'
115	Rev: 5'-CTGCAAAGCACCAATAGCTGCACTCTGGAA-3'

Fw: 5'-CGGCCGAAGCTTGCTCCAG-3'
Rev: 5'-TCCGGGGGAACAGTGCCCACA-3'
Fw: 5'-AGCAGTACTGTGTAGCCAGGAT-3'
Rev: 5'-CACGGAAGGACGGCTTACAG-3'

#### GO term analysis

The significant and positive results of the secretome were entered in the DAVID tool (http://david.abcc.ncifcrf.gov/) using their official gene symbols. The default options were selected and the functional annotation clustering combined view was generated. A maximum p-value of 0.05 was chosen to select only significant categories.

#### Statistical analysis

Differences between values reported in the figures were analyzed by Student's t test using Prism 7 (GraphPad), except when otherwise indicated. P-values < 0.05 were considered significant.

### 7. Acknowledgments

The project presented in this thesis was carried out at Laboratorio Nazionale CIB (LNCIB, Trieste) under the supervision of Prof. Giannino Del Sal, whom I thank for giving me the opportunity to work in his lab during these four years.

The work presented here is part of a larger project, started years ago by my co-supervisor Dr. Valeria Capaci, whom I deeply thank for sharing this interesting story with me and for following me with expertise during my scientific growth in the lab and the writing of the thesis. A mention goes to Marco Fantuz, the other member of the "miRNA group", for being a fun and passionate lab mate.

Important contributions to this work were given by: Dr. Denis Scaini (SISSA; Elettra-Sincrotone, Trieste) who performed the AFM analysis; Dr. Chiara Agostinis and Dr. Fleur Bossi (IRCCS "Burlo Garofolo", Trieste) for kindly give us HUVEC cells and perform the tube formation assay; Prof. Jacek Wisniewski (Max Planck Institute of Biochemistry, Martinsried, Germany) who performed the mass spectrometry analysis of the secretome.

I am grateful to Dr. Alessandra Rustighi and Dr. Fiamma Mantovani for the critical discussions and corrections of the thesis.

I'd like to thank Prof. Giorgio Scita and Prof. Daniela Cesselli for kindly accepted to read this thesis.

I thank also all the colleagues of Del Sal's laboratory team, particularly the members of the ex-117 room, and all the colleagues at LNCIB. A special thanks to Dr. Carmelo Neri for his constant encouragement during my PhD.

I want to thank Dr. Marzia Raimondi and Dr. Valentina Buemi, who, before being two colleagues, are two dear friends who have patiently supported me in these years, both in the lab and outside, and have strongly contributed to make my life happier and more cheerful.

Finally, I thank my parents, to whom this thesis is dedicated, for pushing me to continue during these hard but exciting years.

### 8. References

- 1. WHO. World Health Statistics 2018. (2018).
- Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R. A. Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell* 144, 646–674 (2011).
- 3. Merlo, L. M. F., Pepper, J. W., Reid, B. J. & Maley, C. C. Cancer as an evolutionary and ecological process. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 6, 924–935 (2006).
- Tabassum, D. P. & Polyak, K. Tumorigenesis: It takes a village. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 15, 473–483 (2015).
- 5. McGranahan, N. & Swanton, C. Clonal Heterogeneity and Tumor Evolution: Past, Present, and the Future. *Cell* **168**, 613–628 (2017).
- 6. Pietras, K. & Östman, A. Hallmarks of cancer: Interactions with the tumor stroma. *Exp. Cell Res.* **316**, 1324–1331 (2010).
- Balkwill, F. R., Capasso, M. & Hagemann, T. The tumor microenvironment at a glance. J. Cell Sci. 125, 5591–5596 (2012).
- Joyce, J. A. & Pollard, J. W. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 9, 239–252 (2009).
- 9. Dvorak, H. F. Tumors: Wounds That Do Not Heal. N. Engl. J. Med. 315, 1650–1659 (1986).
- Frantz, C., Stewart, K. M. & Weaver, V. M. The extracellular matrix at a glance. J. Cell Sci. 123, 4195–4200 (2010).
- Butcher, D. T., Alliston, T. & Weaver, V. M. A tense situation: Forcing tumour progression. Nature Reviews Cancer 9, 108–122 (2009).
- 12. Lu, P., Weaver, V. M. & Werb, Z. The extracellular matrix: a dynamic niche in cancer progression. J. Cell Biol. 196, 395–406 (2012).
- 13. Northey, J. J., Przybyla, L. & Weaver, V. M. Tissue force programs cell fate and tumor aggression. *Cancer Discov.* **7**, 1224–1237 (2017).
- Levental, K. R. *et al.* Matrix Crosslinking Forces Tumor Progression by Enhancing Integrin Signaling. *Cell* 139, 891–906 (2009).
- 15. Lopez, J. I., Kang, I., You, W. K., McDonald, D. M. & Weaver, V. M. In situ force mapping of mammary gland transformation. *Integr. Biol.* **3**, 910–921 (2011).
- 16. Acerbi, I. *et al.* Human breast cancer invasion and aggression correlates with ECM stiffening and immune cell infiltration. *Integr. Biol. (Camb).* **7,** 1120–34 (2015).
- 17. Kalluri, R. & Zeisberg, M. Fibroblasts in cancer. Nat. Rev. Cancer 6, 392-401 (2006).

- Kalluri, R. The biology and function of fibroblasts in cancer. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 16, 582–598 (2016).
- 19. Micallef, L. *et al.* The myofibroblast, multiple origins for major roles in normal and pathological tissue repair. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair* **5**, S5 (2012).
- 20. Harper, J. & Sainson, R. C. A. Regulation of the anti-tumour immune response by cancerassociated fibroblasts. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* **25**, 69–77 (2014).
- 21. Procopio, M. G. *et al.* Combined CSL and p53 downregulation promotes cancer-associated fibroblast activation. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **17**, 1193–1204 (2015).
- Calvo, F. *et al.* Mechanotransduction and YAP-dependent matrix remodelling is required for the generation and maintenance of cancer-associated fibroblasts. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 637–646 (2013).
- 23. Dupont, S. *et al.* Role of YAP/TAZ in mechanotransduction. *Nature* (2011). doi:10.1038/nature10137
- Guido, C. *et al.* Metabolic reprogramming of cancer-associated fibroblasts by TGF-β drives tumor growth: Connecting TGF-β signaling with 'Warburg- like' cancer metabolism and Llactate production. *Cell Cycle* 11, 3019–3035 (2012).
- Martinez-Outschoorn, U. E., Lisanti, M. P. & Sotgia, F. Catabolic cancer-associated fibroblasts transfer energy and biomass to anabolic cancer cells, fueling tumor growth. *Semin. Cancer Biol.* 25, 47–60 (2014).
- Zhang, D. *et al.* Metabolic Reprogramming of Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts by IDH3α Downregulation. *Cell Rep.* 10, 1335–1348 (2015).
- 27. Weis, S. M. & Cheresh, D. A. Tumor angiogenesis: Molecular pathways and therapeutic targets. *Nat. Med.* **17**, 1359–1370 (2011).
- Carmeliet, P. & Jain, R. K. Molecular mechanisms and clinical applications of angiogenesis. *Nature* 473, 298 (2011).
- 29. Jain, R. K. Normalization of tumor vasculature: an emerging concept in antiangiogenic therapy. *Science* **307**, 58–62 (2005).
- Qian, B.-Z. & Pollard, J. W. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell* 141, 39–51 (2010).
- Biswas, S. K. & Mantovani, A. Macrophage plasticity and interaction with lymphocyte subsets: Cancer as a paradigm. *Nature Immunology* (2010). doi:10.1038/ni.1937
- 32. Talmadge, J. E. & Gabrilovich, D. I. History of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **13**, 739–52 (2013).
- 33. Tammela, T. & Alitalo, K. Lymphangiogenesis: Molecular Mechanisms and Future Promise.
Cell (2010). doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.045

- Wang, M. et al. Role of tumor microenvironment in tumorigenesis. J. Cancer 8, 761–773 (2017).
- 35. Valastyan, S. & Weinberg, R. A. Tumor metastasis: Molecular insights and evolving paradigms. *Cell* **147**, 275–292 (2011).
- Lambert, A. W., Pattabiraman, D. R. & Weinberg, R. A. Emerging Biological Principles of Metastasis. *Cell* 168, 670–691 (2017).
- Mani, S. A. *et al.* The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. *Cell* 133, 704–15 (2008).
- Quail, D. F. & Joyce, J. A. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nat. Med.* 19, 1423–1437 (2013).
- Paget, S. The distribution of secondary growths in cancer of the breast. *Lancet* 133, 571–573 (1889).
- 40. Liu, Y. & Cao, X. Characteristics and Significance of the Pre-metastatic Niche. *Cancer Cell* 30, 668–681 (2016).
- 41. Peinado, H. *et al.* Pre-metastatic niches: Organ-specific homes for metastases. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **17**, 302–317 (2017).
- 42. Cox, T. R. *et al.* LOX-mediated collagen crosslinking is responsible for fibrosis-enhanced metastasis. *Cancer Res.* **73**, 1721–1732 (2013).
- 43. Karagiannis, G. S., Pavlou, M. P. & Diamandis, E. P. Cancer secretomics reveal pathophysiological pathways in cancer molecular oncology. *Mol. Oncol.* **4**, 496–510 (2010).
- Zullo, J., Matsumoto, K., Xavier, S., Ratliff, B. & Goligorsky, M. S. The cell secretome, a mediator of cell-to-cell communication. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*. 120, 17–20 (2015).
- Dejeans, N. *et al.* Addicted to secrete novel concepts and targets in cancer therapy. *Trends Mol. Med.* 20, 242–250 (2014).
- 46. McAllister, S. S. & Weinberg, R. A. The tumour-induced systemic environment as a critical regulator of cancer progression and metastasis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **16**, 717–727 (2014).
- 47. Landskron, G., De La Fuente, M., Thuwajit, P., Thuwajit, C. & Hermoso, M. A. Chronic inflammation and cytokines in the tumor microenvironment. *J. Immunol. Res.* **2014**, (2014).
- Nagarsheth, N., Wicha, M. S. & Zou, W. Chemokines in the cancer microenvironment and their relevance in cancer immunotherapy. *Nature Reviews Immunology* (2017). doi:10.1038/nri.2017.49
- 49. Zhang, X., Nie, D. & Chakrabarty, S. Growth factors in tumor microenvironment. Front.

References

Biosci. (Landmark Ed. 15, 151–165 (2010).

- 50. Sevenich, L. & Joyce, J. A. Pericellular proteolysis in cancer. *Genes Dev.* 28, 2331–2347 (2014).
- 51. Mosher, D. F. & Adams, J. C. Adhesion-modulating/matricellular ECM protein families: A structural, functional and evolutionary appraisal. *Matrix Biol.* **31**, 155–161 (2012).
- 52. Wong, G. S. & Rustgi, A. K. Matricellular proteins: priming the tumour microenvironment for cancer development and metastasis. *Br. J. Cancer* **108**, 755–761 (2013).
- Zeltz, C., Navab, R., Kusche-Gullberg, M., Tsao, M.-S. & Gullberg, D. in *Biomarkers of the Tumor Microenvironment: Basic Studies and Practical Applications* (eds. Akslen, L. A. & Watnick, R. S.) 77–112 (Springer International Publishing, 2017). doi:10.1007/978-3-319-39147-2\_4
- 54. Lyssiotis, C. A. & Kimmelman, A. C. Metabolic Interactions in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Trends Cell Biol.* 27, 863–875 (2017).
- 55. Reina-Campos, M., Moscat, J. & Diaz-Meco, M. Metabolism shapes the tumor microenvironment. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **48**, 47–53 (2017).
- 56. Dietl, K. *et al.* Lactic Acid and Acidification Inhibit TNF Secretion and Glycolysis of Human Monocytes. *J. Immunol.* **184,** 1200 LP-1209 (2010).
- 57. Fischer, K. *et al.* Inhibitory effect of tumor cell-derived lactic acid on human T cells. *Blood* 109, 3812 LP-3819 (2007).
- 58. Colegio, O. R. *et al.* Functional polarization of tumour-associated macrophages by tumourderived lactic acid. *Nature* **513**, 559 (2014).
- Ruan, G.-X. & Kazlauskas, A. Lactate Engages Receptor Tyrosine Kinases Axl, Tie2, and Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor Receptor 2 to Activate Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase/Akt and Promote Angiogenesis. J. Biol. Chem. 288, 21161–21172 (2013).
- 60. Végran, F., Boidot, R., Michiels, C., Sonveaux, P. & Feron, O. Lactate Influx through the Endothelial Cell Monocarboxylate Transporter MCT1 Supports an NF-κB/IL-8 Pathway that Drives Tumor Angiogenesis. *Cancer Res.* **71**, 2550 LP-2560 (2011).
- 61. Di Virgilio, F. & Adinolfi, E. Extracellular purines, purinergic receptors and tumor growth. *Oncogene* **36**, 293 (2016).
- 62. Beloribi-Djefaflia, S., Vasseur, S. & Guillaumond, F. Lipid metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells. *Oncogenesis* 5, e189 (2016).
- 63. Kaplan, R. N. *et al.* VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the pre-metastatic niche. *Nature* **438**, 820–827 (2005).
- 64. Peinado, H., Lavotshkin, S. & Lyden, D. The secreted factors responsible for pre-metastatic

niche formation: Old sayings and new thoughts. Semin. Cancer Biol. 21, 139-146 (2011).

- Hiratsuka, S., Watanabe, A., Aburatani, H. & Maru, Y. Tumour-mediated upregulation of chemoattractants and recruitment of myeloid cells predetermines lung metastasis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 8, 1369–1375 (2006).
- 66. Erler, J. T. *et al.* Hypoxia-induced lysyl oxidase is a critical mediator of bone marrow cell recruitment to form the premetastatic niche. *Cancer Cell* **15**, 35–44 (2009).
- 67. Joo, Y. N. *et al.* P2Y2R activation by nucleotides released from the highly metastatic breast cancer cell contributes to pre-metastatic niche formation by mediating lysyl oxidase secretion, collagen crosslinking, and monocyte recruitment. *Oncotarget* **5**, (2014).
- 68. Boukouris, S. & Mathivanan, S. Exosomes in bodily fluids are a highly stable resource of disease biomarkers. *Proteomics Clinical Applications* **9**, 358–367 (2015).
- 69. Becker, A. *et al.* Extracellular Vesicles in Cancer: Cell-to-Cell Mediators of Metastasis. *Cancer Cell* **30**, 836–848 (2016).
- 70. Xu, R. *et al.* Extracellular vesicles in cancer implications for future improvements in cancer care. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 1–22 (2018). doi:10.1038/s41571-018-0036-9
- Riches, A., Campbell, E., Borger, E. & Powis, S. Regulation of exosome release from mammary epithelial and breast cancer cells-A new regulatory pathway. *Eur. J. Cancer* 50, 1025–1034 (2014).
- Van Niel, G., D'Angelo, G. & Raposo, G. Shedding light on the cell biology of extracellular vesicles. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 19, 213–228 (2018).
- Colombo, M. *et al.* Analysis of ESCRT functions in exosome biogenesis, composition and secretion highlights the heterogeneity of extracellular vesicles. *J. Cell Sci.* 126, 5553–5565 (2013).
- 74. Trajkovic, K. *et al.* Ceramide triggers budding of exosome vesicles into multivesicular endosomes. *Science (80-. ).* **319,** 1244–1247 (2008).
- Minciacchi, V. R., Freeman, M. R. & Di Vizio, D. Extracellular vesicles in cancer: exosomes, microvesicles and the emerging role of large oncosomes. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* 40, 41–51 (2015).
- Colombo, M., Raposo, G. & Théry, C. Biogenesis, Secretion, and Intercellular Interactions of Exosomes and Other Extracellular Vesicles. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 30, 255–289 (2014).
- 77. Al-Nedawi, K. *et al.* Intercellular transfer of the oncogenic receptor EGFRvIII by microvesicles derived from tumour cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **10**, 619–624 (2008).
- 78. Demory Beckler, M. et al. Proteomic Analysis of Exosomes from Mutant KRAS Colon Cancer Cells Identifies Intercellular Transfer of Mutant KRAS. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 12,

343-355 (2013).

- Antonyak, M. A. *et al.* Cancer cell-derived microvesicles induce transformation by transferring tissue transglutaminase and fibronectin to recipient cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 108, 4852–4857 (2011).
- He, M. *et al.* Hepatocellular carcinoma-derived exosomes promote motility of immortalized hepatocyte through transfer of oncogenic proteins and RNAs. *Carcinogenesis* 36, 1008–1018 (2015).
- Webber, J., Steadman, R., Mason, M. D., Tabi, Z. & Clayton, A. Cancer exosomes trigger fibroblast to myofibroblast differentiation. *Cancer Res.* 70, 9621–9630 (2010).
- 82. Webber, J. P. *et al.* Differentiation of tumour-promoting stromal myofibroblasts by cancer exosomes. *Oncogene* **34**, 319–333 (2015).
- 83. Maia, J., Caja, S., Strano Moraes, M. C., Couto, N. & Costa-Silva, B. Exosome-Based Cell-Cell Communication in the Tumor Microenvironment. *Front. Cell Dev. Biol.* **6**, 18 (2018).
- Naito, Y., Yoshioka, Y., Yamamoto, Y. & Ochiya, T. How cancer cells dictate their microenvironment: present roles of extracellular vesicles. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 74, 697–713 (2017).
- 85. Wolfers, J. *et al.* Tumor-derived exosomes are a source of shared tumor rejection antigens for CTL cross-priming. *Nat. Med.* **7**, 297–303 (2001).
- 86. Keerthikumar, S. *et al.* Proteogenomic analysis reveals exosomes are more oncogenic than ectosomes. *Oncotarget* **6**, 15375–15396 (2015).
- 87. Di Vizio, D. *et al.* Large oncosomes in human prostate cancer tissues and in the circulation of mice with metastatic disease. *Am. J. Pathol.* **181**, 1573–1584 (2012).
- Peinado, H. *et al.* Melanoma exosomes educate bone marrow progenitor cells toward a prometastatic phenotype through MET. *Nat. Med.* 18, 883–891 (2012).
- Costa-Silva, B. *et al.* Pancreatic cancer exosomes initiate pre-metastatic niche formation in the liver. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 17, 816–826 (2015).
- Hoshino, A. *et al.* Tumour exosome integrins determine organotropic metastasis. *Nature* 527, 329–335 (2015).
- Fremder, E. *et al.* Tumor-derived microparticles induce bone marrow-derived cell mobilization and tumor homing: A process regulated by osteopontin. *Int. J. Cancer* 135, 270–281 (2014).
- 92. Pasquier, J. *et al.* Microparticles mediated cross-talk between tumoral and endothelial cells promote the constitution of a pro-metastatic vascular niche through Arf6 up regulation. *Cancer Microenviron.* 7, 41–59 (2014).

- 93. Schwarzenbach, H., Hoon, D. S. B. & Pantel, K. Cell-free nucleic acids as biomarkers in cancer patients. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* **11**, 426–437 (2011).
- 94. Suraj, S., Dhar, C. & Srivastava, S. Circulating nucleic acids: An analysis of their occurrence in malignancies. *Biomed. Reports* (2017). doi:10.3892/br.2016.812
- 95. Anfossi, S., Babayan, A., Pantel, K. & Calin, G. A. Clinical utility of circulating non-coding RNAs — an update. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* (2018). doi:10.1038/s41571-018-0035-x
- 96. Kim, K. M., Abdelmohsen, K., Mustapic, M., Kapogiannis, D. & Gorospe, M. RNA in extracellular vesicles. *Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA* **8**, 1–14 (2017).
- 97. Valadi, H. *et al.* Exosome-mediated transfer of mRNAs and microRNAs is a novel mechanism of genetic exchange between cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **9**, 654–659 (2007).
- 98. Balaj, L. *et al.* Tumour microvesicles contain retrotransposon elements and amplified oncogene sequences. *Nat. Commun.* **2**, (2011).
- 99. Skog, J. *et al.* Glioblastoma microvesicles transport RNA and proteins that promote tumour growth and provide diagnostic biomarkers. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **10**, 1470–1476 (2008).
- 100. Nazarenko, I. *et al.* Cell surface tetraspanin Tspan8 contributes to molecular pathways of exosome-induced endothelial cell activation. *Cancer Res.* **70**, 1668–1678 (2010).
- 101. Grange, C. *et al.* Microvesicles released from human renal cancer stem cells stimulate angiogenesis and formation of lung premetastatic niche. *Cancer Res.* **71**, 5346–5356 (2011).
- 102. Bayraktar, R., Roosbroeck, K. Van & Calin, G. A. Cell-to-cell communication : microRNAs as hormones. **11**, 1673–1686 (2017).
- Turchinovich, A., Weiz, L., Langheinz, A. & Burwinkel, B. Characterization of extracellular circulating microRNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 39, 7223–7233 (2011).
- 104. Arroyo, J. D. *et al.* Argonaute2 complexes carry a population of circulating microRNAs independent of vesicles in human plasma. 1–6 (2011). doi:10.1073/pnas.1019055108
- 105. Wang, K., Zhang, S., Weber, J., Baxter, D. & Galas, D. J. Export of microRNAs and microRNA-protective protein by mammalian cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 38, 7248–7259 (2010).
- 106. Vickers, K. C., Palmisano, B. T., Shoucri, B. M., Shamburek, R. D. & Remaley, A. T. MicroRNAs are transported in plasma and delivered to recipient cells by high-density lipoproteins. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 13, 423–435 (2011).
- Melo, S. A. *et al.* Cancer Exosomes Perform Cell-Independent MicroRNA Biogenesis and Promote Tumorigenesis. *Cancer Cell* 26, 707–721 (2014).
- Bell, E. & Taylor, M. A. Functional Roles for Exosomal MicroRNAs in the Tumour Microenvironment. *Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J.* 15, 8–13 (2017).

- 109. Fabbri, M. et al. MicroRNAs bind to Toll-like receptors to induce prometastatic inflammatory response. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109, E2110–E2116 (2012).
- 110. Yan, W. *et al.* Cancer-cell-secreted exosomal miR-105 promotes tumour growth through the MYC-dependent metabolic reprogramming of stromal cells. *Nat. Cell Biol.* (2018).
- Zhou, W. *et al.* Cancer-Secreted miR-105 destroys vascular endothelial barriers to promote metastasis. *Cancer Cell* 25, 501–515 (2014).
- 112. Tominaga, N. *et al.* Brain metastatic cancer cells release microRNA-181c-containing extracellular vesicles capable of destructing blood-brain barrier. *Nat. Commun.* **6**, (2015).
- Rana, S., Malinowska, K. & Zöller, M. Exosomal Tumor MicroRNA Modulates Premetastatic Organ Cells. *Neoplasia* 15, 281-IN31 (2013).
- 114. Fang, T. *et al.* Tumor-derived exosomal miR-1247-3p induces cancer-associated fibroblast activation to foster lung metastasis of liver cancer. *Nat. Commun.* **9**, 1–13 (2018).
- 115. Fong, M. Y. *et al.* Breast-cancer-secreted miR-122 reprograms glucose metabolism in premetastatic niche to promote metastasis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **17**, 183–194 (2015).
- Morello, M. *et al.* Large oncosomes mediate intercellular transfer of functional microRNA. *Cell Cycle* 12, 3526–3536 (2013).
- 117. Shieh, A. C. Biomechanical forces shape the tumor microenvironment. *Ann. Biomed. Eng.* 39, 1379–1389 (2011).
- 118. Oudin, M. J. & Weaver, V. M. Physical and Chemical Gradients in the Tumor Microenvironment Regulate Tumor Cell Invasion, Migration, and Metastasis. *Cold Spring Harb. Symp. Quant. Biol.* 81, 189–205 (2016).
- Dejeans, N., Barroso, K., Fernandez-Zapico, M. E., Samali, A. & Chevet, E. Novel roles of the unfolded protein response in the control of tumor development and aggressiveness. *Seminars in Cancer Biology* 33, 67–73 (2015).
- 120. Obacz, J. *et al.* Regulation of tumor-stroma interactions by the unfolded protein response.
  *FEBS J.* 1–18 (2017). doi:10.1111/febs.14359
- 121. Semenza, G. L. Hypoxia-inducible factors in physiology and medicine. *Cell* 148, 399–408 (2012).
- 122. Casazza, A. *et al.* Tumor stroma: A complexity dictated by the hypoxic tumor microenvironment. *Oncogene* **33**, 1743–1754 (2014).
- 123. Petrova, V., Annicchiarico-Petruzzelli, M., Melino, G. & Amelio, I. The hypoxic tumour microenvironment. *Oncogenesis* 7, (2018).
- Ji, R. C. Hypoxia and lymphangiogenesis in tumor microenvironment and metastasis. *Cancer Letters* 346, 6–16 (2014).

- 125. Gilkes, D. M., Semenza, G. L. & Wirtz, D. Hypoxia and the extracellular matrix: Drivers of tumour metastasis. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 14, 430–439 (2014).
- 126. Rankin, E. B., Nam, J. M. & Giaccia, A. J. Hypoxia: Signaling the Metastatic Cascade. *Trends in Cancer* **2**, 295–304 (2016).
- 127. Manisterski, M., Golan, M., Amir, S., Weisman, Y. & Mabjeesh, N. J. Hypoxia induces PTHrP gene transcription in human cancer cells through the HIF-2α. *Cell Cycle* 9, 3723– 3729 (2010).
- 128. Cox, T. R. *et al.* The hypoxic cancer secretome induces pre-metastatic bone lesions through lysyl oxidase. *Nature* **522**, 106–110 (2015).
- 129. King, H. W., Michael, M. Z. & Gleadle, J. M. Hypoxic enhancement of exosome release by breast cancer cells. *BMC Cancer* **12**, (2012).
- Wang, T. *et al.* Hypoxia-inducible factors and RAB22A mediate formation of microvesicles that stimulate breast cancer invasion and metastasis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 111, E3234– E3242 (2014).
- 131. Lowry, M. C. & O'Driscoll, L. Can hi-jacking hypoxia inhibit extracellular vesicles in cancer? *Drug Discov. Today* **00**, (2018).
- 132. Iorio, M. V. & Croce, C. M. MicroRNA dysregulation in cancer: Diagnostics, monitoring and therapeutics. A comprehensive review. *EMBO Mol. Med.* **4**, 143–159 (2012).
- Suzuki, H. I., Katsura, A., Matsuyama, H. & Miyazono, K. MicroRNA regulons in tumor microenvironment. *Oncogene* 34, 3085–3094 (2015).
- Kohlhapp, F. J., Mitra, A. K., Lengyel, E. & Peter, M. E. MicroRNAs as mediators and communicators between cancer cells and the tumor microenvironment. *Oncogene* 34, 5857– 5868 (2015).
- Ma, L. *et al.* MiR-9, a MYC/MYCN-activated microRNA, regulates E-cadherin and cancer metastasis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 12, 247–256 (2010).
- 136. Png, K. J., Halberg, N., Yoshida, M. & Tavazoie, S. F. A microRNA regulon that mediates endothelial recruitment and metastasis by cancer cells. *Nature* **481**, 190–196 (2012).
- 137. Chou, J. *et al.* GATA3 suppresses metastasis and modulates the tumour microenvironment by regulating microRNA-29b expression. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **15**, 201–213 (2013).
- 138. Frediani, J. N. & Fabbri, M. Essential role of miRNAs in orchestrating the biology of the tumor microenvironment. *Mol. Cancer* **15**, 1–11 (2016).
- Sengupta, S. *et al.* MicroRNA 29c is down-regulated in nasopharyngeal carcinomas, upregulating mRNAs encoding extracellular matrix proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 105, 5874– 5878 (2008).

- Zhang, Y. *et al.* MiR-126 and miR-126 \* repress recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells and inflammatory monocytes to inhibit breast cancer metastasis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 15, 284–294 (2013).
- 141. Yang, P. *et al.* TGF-β-miR-34a-CCL22 Signaling-Induced Treg Cell Recruitment Promotes Venous Metastases of HBV-Positive Hepatocellular Carcinoma. *Cancer Cell* 22, 291–303 (2012).
- Matsuyama, H. *et al.* miR-135b mediates NPM-ALK-driven oncogenicity and renders IL-17producing immunophenotype to anaplastic large cell lymphoma. *Blood* 118, 6881–6892 (2011).
- 143. Gaziel-Sovran, A. *et al.* MiR-30b/30d Regulation of GalNAc Transferases Enhances Invasion and Immunosuppression during Metastasis. *Cancer Cell* **20**, 104–118 (2011).
- 144. Yu, C. C. *et al.* MiR145 targets the SOX9/ADAM17 axis to inhibit tumor-initiating cells and IL-6-mediated paracrine effects in head and neck cancer. *Cancer Res.* **73**, 3425–3440 (2013).
- 145. Korpal, M. *et al.* Direct targeting of Sec23a by miR-200s influences cancer cell secretome and promotes metastatic colonization. *Nat. Med.* **17**, 1101–1109 (2011).
- 146. Sanchez-Vega, F. *et al.* Oncogenic Signaling Pathways in The Cancer Genome Atlas. *Cell* 173, 321–337.e10 (2018).
- 147. Choi, D. *et al.* Extracellular vesicle communication pathways as regulatory targets of oncogenic transformation. *Semin. Cell Dev. Biol.* **67**, 11–22 (2017).
- 148. Wang, S. E. *et al.* Oncogenic mutations regulate tumor microenvironment through induction of growth factors and angiogenic mediators. *Oncogene* **29**, 3335–48 (2010).
- 149. Sparmann, A. & Bar-Sagi, D. Ras-induced interleukin-8 expression plays a critical role in tumor growth and angiogenesis. *Cancer Cell* **6**, 447–458 (2004).
- 150. Ancrile, B., Lim, K. H. & Counter, C. M. Oncogenic Ras-induced secretion of IL6 is required for tumorigenesis. *Genes Dev.* 21, 1714–1719 (2007).
- Pylayeva-Gupta, Y., Lee, K. E., Hajdu, C. H., Miller, G. & Bar-Sagi, D. Oncogenic Kras-Induced GM-CSF Production Promotes the Development of Pancreatic Neoplasia. *Cancer Cell* 21, 836–847 (2012).
- 152. Cha, D. J. et al. KRAS-dependent sorting of miRNA to exosomes. Elife 4, (2015).
- 153. Zhang, Q. et al. Mutant KRAS Exosomes Alter the Metabolic State of Recipient Colonic Epithelial Cells. Cell. Mol. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 5, 627–629 (2018).
- 154. Whitfield, J. R. & Soucek, L. Tumor microenvironment: Becoming sick of Myc. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 69, 931–934 (2012).
- 155. Choi, D. et al. The impact of oncogenic EGFRvIII on the proteome of extracellular vesicles

released from glioblastoma cells. Mol. Cell. Proteomics 4400, (2018).

- Zanconato, F., Cordenonsi, M. & Piccolo, S. YAP/TAZ at the Roots of Cancer. *Cancer Cell* 29, 783–803 (2016).
- 157. Zhang, J. *et al.* YAP-dependent induction of amphiregulin identifies a non-cell-autonomous component of the Hippo pathway. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **11**, 1444–50 (2009).
- 158. Wang, G. et al. Targeting YAP-dependent MDSC infiltration impairs tumor progression. Cancer Discov. 6, 80–95 (2016).
- 159. Murakami, S. *et al.* Yes-Associated protein mediates immune reprogramming in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Oncogene* **36**, 1232–1244 (2017).
- 160. Kandoth, C. *et al.* Mutational landscape and significance across 12 major cancer types. *Nature* **502**, 333–339 (2013).
- 161. Malkin, D. *et al.* Germ line p53 mutations in a familial syndrome of breast cancer, sarcomas, and other neoplasms. *Science* **250**, 1233–8 (1990).
- 162. Donehower, L. A. Insights into wild-type and mutant p53 functions provided by genetically engineered mice. *Hum. Mutat.* **35**, 715–27 (2014).
- 163. Bieging, K. T., Mello, S. S. & Attardi, L. D. Unravelling mechanisms of p53-mediated tumour suppression. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 14, 359–370 (2014).
- 164. Lane, D. P. Cancer. p53, guardian of the genome. Nature (1992). doi:10.1038/358015a0
- 165. Kastenhuber, E. R. & Lowe, S. W. Putting p53 in Context. Cell 170, 1062–1078 (2017).
- 166. el-Deiry, W. S. *et al.* WAF1/CIP1 is induced in p53-mediated G1 arrest and apoptosis. *Cancer Res.* 54, 1169–74 (1994).
- 167. Kastan, M. B. *et al.* A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and GADD45 is defective in ataxia-telangiectasia. *Cell* **71**, 587–97 (1992).
- 168. Hermeking, H. *et al.* 14-3-3σ is a p53-regulated inhibitor of G2/M progression. *Mol. Cell* (1997). doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(00)80002-7
- Mihara, M. *et al.* p53 has a direct apoptogenic role at the mitochondria. *Mol. Cell* (2003). doi:10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00050-9
- 170. Giorgi, C. *et al.* p53 at the endoplasmic reticulum regulates apoptosis in a Ca2+-dependent manner. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* (2015). doi:10.1073/pnas.1410723112
- 171. Vaseva, A. V. *et al.* P53 opens the mitochondrial permeability transition pore to trigger necrosis. *Cell* (2012). doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.014
- 172. Goeman, F., Strano, S. & Blandino, G. MicroRNAs as Key Effectors in the p53 Network. International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology **333**, (Elsevier Inc., 2017).
- 173. Lujambio, A. et al. Non-cell-autonomous tumor suppression by p53. Cell 153, 449-460

(2013).

- 174. Xue, W. *et al.* Senescence and tumour clearance is triggered by p53 restoration in murine liver carcinomas. *Nature* **445**, 656–60 (2007).
- 175. Menendez, D., Shatz, M. & Resnick, M. A. Interactions between the tumor suppressor p53 and immune responses. *Current Opinion in Oncology* (2013). doi:10.1097/CCO.0b013e32835b6386
- 176. Charni-Natan, M. *et al.* Various stress stimuli rewire the profile of liver secretome in a p53dependent manner. *Cell Death Dis.* **9**, 647 (2018).
- 177. Yu, X., Harris, S. L. & Levine, A. J. The regulation of exosome secretion: A novel function of the p53 protein. *Cancer Res.* 66, 4795–4801 (2006).
- 178. Yu, X., Riley, T. & Levine, A. J. The regulation of the endosomal compartment by p53 the tumor suppressor gene. *FEBS J.* **276**, 2201–2212 (2009).
- 179. Sun, Y. et al. A novel TP53 pathway influences the HGS-mediated exosome formation in colorectal cancer. Sci. Rep. 6, 1–13 (2016).
- Burdakov, V. S. *et al.* Exosomes Transfer p53 between Cells and Can Suppress Growth and Proliferation of p53-Negative Cells. *Cell tissue biol.* 12, 20–26 (2018).
- Bouaoun, L. *et al.* TP53 Variations in Human Cancers: New Lessons from the IARC TP53 Database and Genomics Data. *Hum. Mutat.* 37, 865–76 (2016).
- Freed-Pastor, W. A. & Prives, C. Mutant p53: one name, many proteins. *Genes Dev.* 26, 1268–86 (2012).
- Bullock, A. N. & Fersht, A. R. Rescuing the function of mutant p53. *Nat. Rev. Cancer* 1, 68–76 (2001).
- 184. Brosh, R. & Rotter, V. When mutants gain new powers: News from the mutant p53 field. Nat. Rev. Cancer 9, 701–713 (2009).
- Aschauer, L. & Muller, P. A. J. Novel targets and interaction partners of mutant p53 Gain-Of-Function. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 44, 460–466 (2016).
- 186. Sabapathy, K. & Lane, D. P. Therapeutic targeting of p53: All mutants are equal, but some mutants are more equal than others. *Nat. Rev. Clin. Oncol.* 15, 13–30 (2018).
- 187. Muller, P. A. J. & Vousden, K. H. P53 Mutations in Cancer. Nat. Cell Biol. 15, 2-8 (2013).
- 188. Walerych, D., Lisek, K. & Del Sal, G. Mutant p53: One, No One, and One Hundred Thousand. *Front. Oncol.* 5, (2015).
- Göhler, T. et al. Mutant p53 proteins bind DNA in a DNA structure-selective mode. Nucleic Acids Res. (2005). doi:10.1093/nar/gki252
- 190. Kim, M. P. & Lozano, G. Mutant p53 partners in crime. Cell Death Differ. 1-8 (2017).

doi:10.1038/cdd.2017.185

- 191. Mantovani, F., Walerych, D. & Sal, G. Del. Targeting mutant p53 in cancer: a long road to precision therapy. *FEBS J.* **284**, 837–850 (2017).
- 192. Strano, S. *et al.* Physical and functional interaction between p53 mutants and different isoforms of p73. *J. Biol. Chem.* **275**, 29503–12 (2000).
- 193. Strano, S. *et al.* Physical interaction with human tumor-derived p53 mutants inhibits p63 activities. *J. Biol. Chem.* 277, 18817–26 (2002).
- 194. Bergamaschi, D. *et al.* p53 polymorphism influences response in cancer chemotherapy via modulation of p73-dependent apoptosis. *Cancer Cell* **3**, 387–402 (2003).
- Adorno, M. *et al.* A Mutant-p53/Smad Complex Opposes p63 to Empower TGFβ-Induced Metastasis. *Cell* 137, 87–98 (2009).
- Girardini, J. E. *et al.* A Pin1/Mutant p53 Axis Promotes Aggressiveness in Breast Cancer. *Cancer Cell* 20, 79–91 (2011).
- 197. Pfister, N. T. et al. Mutant p53 cooperates with the SWI / SNF chromatin remodeling complex to regulate VEGFR2 in breast cancer cells. 1–18 (2015). doi:10.1101/gad.263202.115.
- 198. Zhu, J. *et al.* Gain-of-function p53 mutants co-opt chromatin pathways to drive cancer growth. *Nature* **525**, 206–211 (2015).
- 199. Song, H., Hollstein, M. & Xu, Y. p53 gain-of-function cancer mutants induce genetic instability by inactivating ATM. *Nat. Cell Biol.* (2007). doi:10.1038/ncb1571
- 200. Liu, K., Ling, S. & Lin, W.-C. TopBP1 Mediates Mutant p53 Gain of Function through NF-Y and p63/p73. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* (2011). doi:10.1128/MCB.05574-11
- 201. Zhou, G. *et al.* Gain-of-Function Mutant p53 Promotes Cell Growth and Cancer Cell Metabolism via Inhibition of AMPK Activation. *Mol. Cell* (2014). doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2014.04.024
- 202. Morselli, E. *et al.* Mutant p53 protein localized in the cytoplasm inhibits autophagy. *Cell Cycle* (2008). doi:10.4161/cc.7.19.6751
- 203. Frank, A. K., Pietsch, E. C., Dumont, P., Tao, J. & Murphy, M. E. Wild-type and mutant p53 proteins interact with mitochondrial caspase-3. *Cancer Biol. Ther.* **11**, 740–5 (2011).
- 204. Chee, J. L. Y. *et al.* Wild-type and mutant p53 mediate cisplatin resistance through interaction and inhibition of active caspase-9. *Cell Cycle* (2013). doi:10.4161/cc.23054
- 205. Yue, X. *et al.* Gain-of-function mutant p53 activates small GTPase Rac1 through SUMOylation to promote tumor progression. *Genes Dev.* **31**, 1641–1654 (2017).
- 206. Di Minin, G. et al. Mutant p53 Reprograms TNF Signaling in Cancer Cells through

Interaction with the Tumor Suppressor DAB2IP. Mol. Cell 56, 617-629 (2014).

- 207. Valentino, E. *et al.* Mutant p53 potentiates the oncogenic effects of insulin by inhibiting the tumor suppressor DAB2IP. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **114**, 7623–7628 (2017).
- 208. Suzuki, H. I. et al. Modulation of microRNA processing by p53. Nature (2009). doi:10.1038/nature08199
- 209. Garibaldi, F. *et al.* Mutant p53 inhibits miRNA biogenesis by interfering with the microprocessor complex. *Oncogene* (2016). doi:10.1038/onc.2016.51
- 210. Muller, P. A. J., Trinidad, A. G., Caswell, P. T., Norman, J. C. & Vousden, K. H. Mutant p53 regulates dicer through p63-dependent and -independent mechanisms to promote an invasive phenotype. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 122–132 (2014).
- 211. Walerych, D. *et al.* Proteasome machinery is instrumental in a common gain-of-function program of the p53 missense mutants in cancer. *Nat. Cell Biol.* **18**, 897–909 (2016).
- Ingallina, E. *et al.* Mechanical cues control mutant p53 stability through a mevalonate-RhoA axis. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 20, 28–35 (2018).
- Cordani, M. *et al.* Mutant p53 proteins alter cancer cell secretome and tumour microenvironment: Involvement in cancer invasion and metastasis. *Cancer Lett.* 376, 303–309 (2016).
- 214. Loging, W. T. & Reisman, D. Inhibition of the putative tumor suppressor gene TIMP-3 by tumor-derived p53 mutants and wild type p53. *Oncogene* **18**, 7608–7615 (1999).
- 215. Wong, G. S. *et al.* Periostin cooperates with mutant p53 to mediate invasion through the induction of STAT1 signaling in the esophageal tumor microenvironment. *Oncogenesis* 2, e59 (2013).
- Zhong, Y. *et al.* Mutant p53 Together with TGFβ Signaling Influence Organ-Specific Hematogenous Colonization Patterns of Pancreatic Cancer. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 23, 1607–1620 (2017).
- 217. Linderholm, B. K. *et al.* The expression of vascular endothelial growth factor correlates with mutant p53 and poor prognosis in human breast cancer. *Cancer Res.* **61**, 2256–2260 (2001).
- 218. Fontemaggi, G. *et al.* The execution of the transcriptional axis mutant p53, E2F1 and ID4 promotes tumor neo-angiogenesis. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* (2009). doi:10.1038/nsmb.1669
- 219. Cooks, T. *et al.* Mutant p53 prolongs NF-κB activation and promotes chronic inflammation and inflammation-associated colorectal cancer. *Cancer Cell* **23**, 634–46 (2013).
- 220. Weisz, L. *et al.* Mutant p53 enhances nuclear factor kappaB activation by tumor necrosis factor alpha in cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* (2007). doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-2425
- 221. Scian, M. J. et al. Tumor-derived p53 mutants induce NF-kappaB2 gene expression. Mol.

*Cell. Biol.* **25,** 10097–110 (2005).

- 222. Yeudall, W. A. *et al.* Gain-of-function mutant p53 upregulates CXC chemokines and enhances cell migration. *Carcinogenesis* **33**, 442–451 (2012).
- Yan, W. & Chen, X. Identification of GRO1 as a critical determinant for mutant p53 gain of function. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 12178–87 (2009).
- 224. Ubertini, V. *et al.* Mutant p53 gains new function in promoting inflammatory signals by repression of the secreted interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *Oncogene* **34**, 2493–504 (2015).
- 225. Madar, S. *et al.* Mutant p53 Attenuates the Anti-Tumorigenic Activity of Fibroblasts-Secreted Interferon Beta. *PLoS One* **8**, (2013).
- 226. Zhang, C. *et al.* Tumour-associated mutant p53 drives the Warburg effect. *Nat. Commun.* (2013). doi:10.1038/ncomms3935
- 227. Neilsen, P. M. *et al.* Mutant p53 uses p63 as a molecular chaperone to alter gene expression and induce a pro-invasive secretome Paul. *Oncotarget* **2**, 1203–1217 (2011).
- 228. Shakya, R. *et al.* Mutant p53 upregulates alpha-1 antitrypsin expression and promotes invasion in lung cancer. *Oncogene* **36**, 4469–4480 (2017).
- 229. Cooks, T. *et al.* Mutant p53 cancers reprogram macrophages to tumor supporting macrophages via exosomal miR-1246. *Nat. Commun.* **9**, (2018).
- Polyak, K. & Metzger Filho, O. SnapShot: Breast Cancer. Cancer Cell 22, 562–562.e1 (2012).
- Foulkes, W. D., Smith, I. E. & Reis-Filho, J. S. Triple-negative breast cancer. N. Engl. J. Med. 363, 1938–48 (2010).
- 232. Volinia, S. *et al.* A microRNA expression signature of human solid tumors defines cancer gene targets. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **103**, 2257–61 (2006).
- Li, N. *et al.* A combined array-based comparative genomic hybridization and functional library screening approach identifies mir-30d as an oncomir in cancer. *Cancer Res.* 72, 154–164 (2012).
- 234. Yao, J. *et al.* Microrna-30d promotes tumor invasion and metastasis by targeting galphai2 in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology* **51**, 846–856 (2010).
- 235. Yang, X. et al. Mir-30d Regulates multiple genes in the autophagy pathway and impairs autophagy process in human cancer cells. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 431, 617–622 (2013).
- 236. Lin, Z. yuan *et al.* MicroRNA-30d promotes angiogenesis and tumor growth via MYPT1/c-JUN/VEGFA pathway and predicts aggressive outcome in prostate cancer. *Mol. Cancer* 16, 1–14 (2017).

- 237. Han, M. et al. microRNA-30d mediated breast cancer invasion, migration, and EMT by targeting KLF11 and activating STAT3 pathway. J. Cell. Biochem. 1–8 (2018). doi:10.1002/jcb.26767
- 238. Bonci, D. *et al.* The miR-15a-miR-16-1 cluster controls prostate cancer by targeting multiple oncogenic activities. *Nat. Med.* **14**, 1271–7 (2008).
- 239. Deshmukh, A. S., Cox, J., Jensen, L. J., Meissner, F. & Mann, M. Secretome analysis of lipid-induced insulin resistance in skeletal muscle cells by a combined experimental and bioinformatics workflow. *J. Proteome Res.* **14**, 4885–4895 (2015).
- 240. Vilella, F. *et al.* Hsa-miR-30d, secreted by the human endometrium, is taken up by the pre-implantation embryo and might modify its transcriptome. *Development* 142, 3210–3221 (2015).
- 241. Melman, Y. F. *et al.* Circulating microRNA-30d is associated with response to cardiac resynchronization therapy in heart failure and regulates cardiomyocyte apoptosis: A translational pilot study. *Circulation* 131, 2202–2216 (2015).
- 242. Jia, K. et al. Diagnostic value of miR-30d-5p and miR-125b-5p in acute myocardial infarction. Mol. Med. Rep. 14, 184–194 (2016).
- 243. Xiao, J. et al. Circulating miR-30d Predicts Survival in Patients with Acute Heart Failure. Cell. Physiol. Biochem. 41, 865–874 (2017).
- 244. Jiang, M. *et al.* Exosomes from MiR-30d-5p-ADSCs Reverse Acute Ischemic Stroke-Induced, Autophagy-Mediated Brain Injury by Promoting M2 Microglial/Macrophage Polarization. *Cell. Physiol. Biochem.* 47, 864–878 (2018).
- 245. Caserta, S. *et al.* Circulating Plasma microRNAs can differentiate Human Sepsis and Systemic Inflammatory Response Syndrome (SIRS). *Sci. Rep.* **6**, 1–13 (2016).
- 246. De Candia, P. *et al.* A unique plasma microRNA profile defines type 2 diabetes progression. *PLoS One* (2017). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0188980
- 247. Hu, Z. *et al.* Serum microRNA signatures identified in a genome-wide serum microRNA expression profiling predict survival of non-small-cell lung cancer. J. Clin. Oncol. 28, 1721–1726 (2010).
- 248. Le, H. B. *et al.* Evaluation of dynamic change of serum miR-21 and miR-24 in pre- and postoperative lung carcinoma patients. *Med. Oncol.* **29**, 3190–3197 (2012).
- 249. Zhu, B. *et al.* Serum miR-30d as a novel biomarker for multiple myeloma and its antitumor role in U266 cells through the targeting of the MTDH/PI3K/Akt signaling pathway. *Int. J. Oncol.* (2018). doi:10.3892/ijo.2018.4532
- 250. Fleming, N. H. et al. Serum-based miRNAs in the prediction and detection of recurrence in

melanoma patients. Cancer 121, 51–59 (2015).

- 251. Russo, F. *et al.* MiRandola 2017: A curated knowledge base of non-invasive biomarkers. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2018). doi:10.1093/nar/gkx854
- Balaguer, N. *et al.* Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein C1 may control miR-30d levels in endometrial exosomes affecting early embryo implantation. *Mol. Hum. Reprod.* 24, 411– 425 (2018).
- 253. Huang, D. W., Sherman, B. T. & Lempicki, R. A. Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. *Nat. Protoc.* (2009). doi:10.1038/nprot.2008.211
- Huang, D. W., Sherman, B. T. & Lempicki, R. A. Bioinformatics enrichment tools: paths toward the comprehensive functional analysis of large gene lists. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 37, 1–13 (2009).
- Peterson, J. M. & Pizza, F. X. Cytokines derived from cultured skeletal muscle cells after mechanical strain promote neutrophil chemotaxis in vitro. J. Appl. Physiol. 106, 130–137 (2009).
- 256. Liu, L. *et al.* Interleukin-17 and prostaglandin E2 are involved in formation of an M2 macrophage-dominant microenvironment in lung cancer. *J. Thorac. Oncol.* 7, 1091–100 (2012).
- 257. Brady, J. J. *et al.* An Arntl2-Driven Secretome Enables Lung Adenocarcinoma Metastatic Self-Sufficiency. *Cancer Cell* **29**, 697–710 (2016).
- 258. Li, P., Kaslan, M., Lee, S. H., Yao, J. & Gao, Z. Progress in exosome isolation techniques. *Theranostics* 7, 789–804 (2017).
- 259. Parisse, P. *et al.* Atomic force microscopy analysis of extracellular vesicles. *Eur. Biophys. J.*46, 813–820 (2017).
- 260. Mitchell, P. S. *et al.* Circulating microRNAs as stable blood-based markers for cancer detection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* (2008). doi:10.1073/pnas.0804549105
- Le, M. T. N. *et al.* miR-200 containing extracellular vesicles promote breast cancer cell metastasis. J. Clin. Invest. 124, 5109–5128 (2014).
- 262. Lang, G. A. et al. Gain of function of a p53 hot spot mutation in a mouse model of Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cell 119, 861–72 (2004).
- 263. Yang, S. J. et al. The miR-30 family: Versatile players in breast cancer. Tumor Biol. 39, (2017).
- 264. Bard, F. & Malhotra, V. The Formation of TGN-to-Plasma-Membrane Transport Carriers. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* **22**, 439–455 (2006).

- Xie, S., Naslavsky, N. & Caplan, S. Diacylglycerol kinases in membrane trafficking. *Cell. Logist.* 5, 1–9 (2015).
- 266. Yu, F. X., Zhao, B. & Guan, K. L. Hippo Pathway in Organ Size Control, Tissue Homeostasis, and Cancer. *Cell* (2015). doi:10.1016/j.cell.2015.10.044
- 267. Panciera, T., Azzolin, L., Cordenonsi, M. & Piccolo, S. Mechanobiology of YAP and TAZ in physiology and disease. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology* (2017). doi:10.1038/nrm.2017.87
- 268. Azzi, S., Hebda, J. K. & Gavard, J. Vascular permeability and drug delivery in cancers. *Front. Oncol.* **3**, 211 (2013).
- 269. Camps, C. *et al.* Integrated analysis of microRNA and mRNA expression and association with HIF binding reveals the complexity of microRNA expression regulation under hypoxia. *Mol. Cancer* 13, 1–21 (2014).
- 270. Park, J. E. *et al.* Hypoxic Tumor Cell Modulates Its Microenvironment to Enhance Angiogenic and Metastatic Potential by Secretion of Proteins and Exosomes. *Mol. Cell. Proteomics* 9, 1085–1099 (2010).
- Obacz, J., Pastorekova, S., Vojtesek, B. & Hrstka, R. Cross-talk between HIF and p53 as mediators of molecular responses to physiological and genotoxic stresses. *Mol. Cancer* 12, 93 (2013).
- 272. Amelio, I. & Melino, G. The p53 family and the hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs): Determinants of cancer progression. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* **40**, 425–434 (2015).
- Downing, S. *et al.* Elevated levels of prostate-specific antigen (PSA) in prostate cancer cells expressing mutant p53 is associated with tumor metastasis. *Mol. Carcinog.* 38, 130–140 (2003).
- 274. Garzon, R., Marcucci, G. & Croce, C. M. Targeting microRNAs in cancer: rationale, strategies and challenges. *Nat. Rev. Drug Discov.* **9**, 775–89 (2010).
- 275. Voorhoeve, P. M. & Agami, R. The tumor-suppressive functions of the human INK4A locus. *Cancer Cell* (2003). doi:10.1016/S1535-6108(03)00223-X
- 276. Bossi, F. *et al.* C1q as a unique player in angiogenesis with therapeutic implication in wound healing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **111**, 4209–14 (2014).
- 277. Junker, J. P. & Rief, M. Single-molecule force spectroscopy distinguishes target binding modes of calmodulin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **106**, 14361–6 (2009).
- Rauti, R. *et al.* Graphene Oxide Nanosheets Reshape Synaptic Function in Cultured Brain Networks. ACS Nano (2016). doi:10.1021/acsnano.6b00130